
 

Page 1 of 3 
 

 
CALAVERAS PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT 

506 W. St. Charles, Street San Andreas, CA 95249 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS SPECIAL MEETING: 5:00 PM 
March 29, 2023 

 
Richard Blood 

President of the Board 
 
Director Brady McCartney     Director J.W. Dell ‘Orto  
Director Jack Tressler     Director Steve McDermed 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING AND AGENDA 

 

1. CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL OF DIRECTORS 

a. President Richard Blood 

b.  Director Brady McCartney 

c. Director J.W. Dell ‘Orto 

d. Director Jack Tressler 

e. Director Steve McDermed 

 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
4. PUBLIC COMMENT (Limit: 3 min/person) 

Calaveras Public Utility District hereby provides notice that it will convene this special 

meeting of the Board of Directors at the District Office at the address indicated above. We 

encourage the public to attend the meeting in person or remotely as follows: 
 

• Join the Conference Call meeting 

• Dial-in number (US): 1(669)900-9128 

• Join the online ZOOM meeting:   
• https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88965614738?pwd=eTFXNWp1cExRd0svTSszRDBxaHg0Zz09  

Meeting ID: 889 6561 4738 

• Meeting Passcode code: 600697 

 

 Please mute your call before joining.  This will limit technical difficulties with audio. 

Only unmute your call if the President has requested public comment on an item.  Upon completing 

your comments, please mute your call again.  Do not put the call on hold, as hold music can ruin the 

call for all other participants.  If that occurs, or in the event of disruptive conduct, staff reserves the 

right to disconnect that caller.  Do no talk over the top of any other callers.  Conversations must be 

one at a time. 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/88965614738?pwd=eTFXNWp1cExRd0svTSszRDBxaHg0Zz09


Page 2 of 3 

At this time, members of the public may address the Board on any matter within its 

jurisdiction which is not on the agenda.  The public is encouraged to work with staff to 

place items on the agenda for Board consideration.  No action can be taken on matters 

not listed on the agenda.  Comments are limited to 3 minutes per person. 

5. CONSENT ITEMS

Consent items should be considered together as one motion. Any item(s) requested to be

removed will be considered after the motion to approve the Consent Items.

a. March 8, 2023 Special Board Meeting Minutes

b. March 16, 2023 Special Board Meeting Minutes

Action: Roll call Vote 

Consider motion to approve consent item a-b. 

ITEMS FOR BOARD DISCUSSION AND/OR ACTION 

Board action may occur on any identified agenda item. Any member of the public may 

directly address the Board on any identified agenda item of interest, either before or 

during the Board's consideration of that item. 

6. CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL OF THE FINAL DRAFT OF THE WATER 
RATE STUDY

Action Requested: Roll Call Vote

Staff recommends approval of the Final Draft of the Rate Study included in the Board 
Packet.

7. CONSIDERATION OF APPROVAL OF THE FORM OF NOTICE OF PUBLIC 
HEARING ON PROPOSED WATER RATE INCREASES UNDER 
PROPOSITION 218 AND AUTHORIZE STAFF TO MAIL THE NOTICES TO 
DISTRICT CUSTOMERS

Action Requested: Roll Call Vote

Staff recommends approval of the form of notice of public hearing on the proposed water 
rate increases as required by Proposition 218, and to authorize staff to mail the notices to 
District customers.

8. SCHEDULE FINAL HEARING ON THE PROPOSED WATER RATE 
INCREASE ON JUNE 8TH 2023 AT 7;00 P.M. AT THE SAN ANDREAS TOWN 
HALL

Action Requested: Roll Call Vote

Schedule the public hearing to approve the water rate increase on June 8, 2023 which is 
after the minimum 45-day notice requirement under Proposition 218 to take place at the 
San Andreas Town Hall.



 

Page 3 of 3 
 

9. ADJOURNMENT  

If there is no other Board business the President will adjourn to its next regular meeting 

scheduled for April 11, 2023 at 3:00 p.m. 

 

 

 

 
 

 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you need special assistance to participate in this 
meeting, please contact the Office at (209) 754-9442. Notification in advance of the meeting will enable 

CPUD to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting. Any documents that are 
made available to the Board before or at the meeting, not privileged or otherwise protected from disclosure, 

and related to agenda items, will be made available at CPUD for review by the public.  

 



 

 

CALAVERAS PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT     March 8, 2023 

 

Special Meeting        7:00 pm 

 

DIRECTORS PRESENT: Richard Blood 

Brady McCartney 

J.W. Dell’Orto 

Jack Tressler 

Steve McDermed 

 

DIRECTORS ABSENT: None 

 

 

STAFF PRESENT:  Travis Small, General Manager 

Adam Brown, District Legal Counsel 

Carissa Bear, Clerk of the Board  

Dannela Bell, Customer Service Representative 

Mathew Roberts, Water System Superintendent 

Wyatt Rovera, Chief Water Treatment Plant Operator  

James Moe, Water Distribution/Treatment Operator  

Tyke Woden, Water Distribution/Treatment Operator 

 

 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Alison Lechowicz, Lechowicz & Tseng Municipal Consultants 

    Raelene Moe, Member of the Public 

    Cindy Secada, Member of the Public  

  

1. CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER: President Blood called the meeting to order at 7:00 

pm.  

 

2. ROLL CALL OF DIRECTORS: Directors Blood, McCartney, Dell’Orto, Tressler, and 

McDermed were present.  

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT: None 

 

5. PROPOSITION 218 WATER RATE PROPOSAL AND COST OF SERVICE STUDY  

• Introduction (President Blood): President Blood welcomed the public and introduced 

himself. He provided details of the process of the Public Workshop, stating there will be 

a public comment to follow. The President then passed the microphone to the remaining 

Board Members to introduce themselves.  

• Staff Introduction (Travis Small & Mathew Roberts): Mr. Small introduced himself and 

the office staff in attendance then passed the microphone to Mr. Roberts to introduce 

himself and the crew members.  



 

 

• Presentation (Water Rate Study– Alison Lechowicz): Ms. Lechowicz presented a 

slideshow on the Water Rate Study which reviewed the proposed rate increase. 

• Presentation (Highlighted District Expenditures Capital Projects, Dams, Pumping 

Facilities and Debt Service Ratio – Travis Small): Mr. Small presented a slideshow on 

the District’s highlighted Cost Expenditures which touched on the history of the District, 

District facilities, District Challenges, Debt Service Ratios, Capital Expenditures, Dam 

Expenses. His presentation also included a range of photos of District facilities and 

projects. 

• Public Comment (Limit: 3 min/person): The following individuals presented comments:  

1. Raelene Moe 

2. James Moe 

• Items on Display: For the public viewing, the crew provided a variety of items from past 

projects and leaks. Also on display was a collection of photos highlighting District Dams 

and Repairs, District Leaks, District Mechanical Maintenance, and the Clearwell Tank 

Project. 

• Closing Comments (President Blood) 

 

6. ADJOURMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Board, President Blood adjourned the meeting at 

7:49 pm. 

Respectfully Submitted,

 
Carissa Bear, Clerk of the Board 



 

 

CALAVERAS PUBLIC UTILITY DISTRICT     March 16, 2023 

 

Special Meeting        7:00 pm 

 

DIRECTORS PRESENT: Richard Blood 

Brady McCartney 

J.W. Dell’Orto 

Steve McDermed 

 

DIRECTORS ABSENT: Jack Tressler 

 

STAFF PRESENT:  Travis Small, General Manager 

Adam Brown, District Legal Counsel (Remote) 

Carissa Bear, Clerk of the Board  

Dannela Bell, Customer Service Representative (Remote) 

Mathew Roberts, Water System Superintendent 

James Moe, Water Distribution/Treatment Operator  

Tyke Woden, Water Distribution/Treatment Operator 

 

OTHERS PRESENT:  Alison Lechowicz, Lechowicz & Tseng Municipal Consultants 

 

MEMBERS OF  

THE PUBLIC:  

  

    Raelene Moe   Will Mosgrove 

Maggie Blood   Phil McCartney 

Ric Elhard   Asella Blood 

    Carrie Biggs-Adams   Chat Soulé 

Dave LeGrande  Dean Dix 

Patty Yocum   Erica McCartney 

    Gail Soulé   Robert Schock (Remote) 

Cathy Bourland  Anne Cook 

Marry Anne Garamendi  Kevin Brady 

Marta Johnson   Paula & Bob Leitzell  

  

1. CALL THE MEETING TO ORDER: President Blood called the meeting to order at 7:07 

pm.  

 

2. ROLL CALL OF DIRECTORS: Directors Blood, McCartney, Dell’Orto, and McDermed 

were present. Directors Tressler was absent. 

 

3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

4. PUBLIC COMMENT: Phil McCartney  

 

5. PROPOSITION 218 WATER RATE PROPOSAL AND COST OF SERVICE STUDY  



 

 

• Introduction (President Blood): President Blood welcomed the public and introduced 

himself. He provided details of the process of the Public Workshop, stating there will be 

a public comment to follow. Each Board Member introduced themselves. 

• Staff Introduction (Travis Small & Mathew Roberts): Mr. Small introduced himself and 

then passed the microphone to staff and the rate consultant to introduce themselves.  

• Presentation (Operations Overview – Mathew Roberts): Mr. Roberts presented a 

slideshow of the Operations Overview of the District which highlighted the history of 

Calaveras Public Utility District (CPUD), Water System Overview, Raw Water Storage 

Overview, 1971 CPUD Water Project, Operations – Water Treatment, Operations – 

Water Storage and Transmission, Water Storage Tank – Maintenance, Transmission 

Main – Maintenance Diagraph Valve and Air Release Valve, Operations – Water 

Distribution, and Operations – Water Leaks. His presentation also included a range of 

photos of District facilities and projects.  

• Presentation (District Presentation – Travis Small): Mr. Small presented a slideshow on 

the District’s Challenges, Debt Service Ratio, Recent Capital Projects, Capital Outlay, 

Dam Expenses (Regulatory), Middle Fork Dam Project Facilities, Dam Expenses 

(Capital), South Fork Pump Station, Jeff Davis Water Treatment Plant (WTP) 

Improvements, and the Clearwell Tank Project. His presentation also included a range of 

photos of District facilities and projects. 

• Presentation (Water Rate Study Town Hall – Alison Lechowicz): Ms. Lechowicz 

presented a slideshow on the Water Rate Study which reviewed the proposed rate 

increase. 

• Public Comment (Limit: 3 min/person): The following individuals presented comment:  

1. Mary Anne Garamendi 

2. Dave LeGrande 

3. Carrie Biggs – Adams 

4. Various unnamed members of the public  

• Items on Display: For the public viewing, the crew provided a variety of items from past 

projects and leaks. Also on display was a collection of photos highlighting District Dams 

and Repairs, District Leaks, District Mechanical Maintenance, and the Clearwell Tank 

Project. 

• Closing Comments (President Blood) 

 

6. ADJOURMENT 

There being no further business to come before the Board, President Blood adjourned the meeting at 

9:24 pm. 

Respectfully Submitted,

 
Carissa Bear, Clerk of the Board 



 

 

  

 

 

  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

Water Rate Study 

 for the 

Calaveras Public Utility District 
 

 

FINAL Report 

March 24, 2023 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

909 Marina Village Parkway #135 
Alameda, CA 94501 

(510) 545-3182 
www.LTmuniconsultants.com 



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study                                                                      

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................. 1 
1.1 Background ....................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Requirements of Proposition 218 ..................................................................................... 1 
1.3 Rate Study Process ............................................................................................................ 2 
1.4 Current and Proposed Water Rates .................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 2: CUSTOMER BASE AND CURRENT RATE REVENUES ......................................................... 7 
2.1 Current Rates .................................................................................................................... 7 
2.2 Typical Bills ........................................................................................................................ 9 
2.3 Customer Base ................................................................................................................ 10 
2.4 Service Charge Revenues ................................................................................................ 11 
2.5 Water Usage Statistics .................................................................................................... 13 

SECTION 3: COST OF SERVICE .......................................................................................................... 15 
3.1 Revenues ......................................................................................................................... 15 
3.2 Expenses .......................................................................................................................... 15 
3.3 Reserves .......................................................................................................................... 18 
3.4 Water Cash Flow ............................................................................................................. 19 

SECTION 4: RATE DESIGN ................................................................................................................. 23 
4.1 Rate Design Considerations ............................................................................................ 23 
4.2 Cost Allocation Methodology ......................................................................................... 23 
4.3 Meter Equivalents ........................................................................................................... 25 
4.4 Rate Calculation .............................................................................................................. 25 
4.5 Drought Rates ................................................................................................................. 26 
4.6 Proposed 5-Year Rate Plan .............................................................................................. 28 
4.7 Bill Impacts ...................................................................................................................... 30 

 

 
 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study                                                                      

LIST OF TABLES 
 

Table 1: Executive Summary - Current and Proposed Water Rates ............................................................. 5 
Table 2: Historic and Current Monthly Water Rates .................................................................................... 8 
Table 3: Typical Bills Under Current Rates .................................................................................................... 9 
Table 4: Number of Accounts ..................................................................................................................... 10 
Table 5: Water Service Revenue Summary ................................................................................................. 11 
Table 6: Projected Service Charge Revenues FY2022/23 ........................................................................... 12 
Table 7: Water Consumption by Customer Class (Gallons) ........................................................................ 13 
Table 8: Capital Outlay Fiscal Year 2022/2023 ........................................................................................... 17 
Table 9: Current Reserve Policies ............................................................................................................... 18 
Table 10: Cash Flow Projection ................................................................................................................... 21 
Table 11: Cost Allocation ............................................................................................................................ 24 
Table 12: Number of Meter Equivalents ..................................................................................................... 25 
Table 13: FY2023/24 Rate Calculation ........................................................................................................ 26 
Table 14: FY2023/24 Base Rates for Larger Meter Sizes ............................................................................ 26 
Table 15: Base & Extra Cost Allocation Under Various Water Cutback Scenarios...................................... 27 
Table 16: FY2023/24 Drought Rates ........................................................................................................... 28 
Table 17: Current and Proposed Water Rates ............................................................................................ 29 
Table 18: Comparison of Current and Proposed Single Family Residential Bills ........................................ 30 

 

 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 
 
Figure 1: Rate Study Process ......................................................................................................................... 3 
Figure 2: Typical Bill Survey ........................................................................................................................... 6 
Figure 3: Historical Districtwide Total Monthly Water Use ........................................................................ 14 
Figure 4: Cash Flows .................................................................................................................................... 20 
Figure 5: Bill Impact Analysis for Single Family Customers with 5/8” Meters ............................................ 31 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 1                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 Background 
The Calaveras Public Utility District (CPUD or District) was established on January 19, 1934 as a public 

owned utility. The District is located approximately 60 miles southeast of Sacramento and provides 

water services to the communities of Railroad Flat, Glencoe, Paloma, Mokelumne Hill, and San Andreas, 

California. The District serves a population of roughly 6,350 people within its over 35 square mile area. 

The District’s customer base includes both rural areas and the more densely populated areas of San 

Andreas and Mokelumne Hill which include residential customers, offices, schools, and businesses. The 

vast majority of customers receive treated water, though CPUD provides limited raw water service to 

four accounts in the Railroad Flat area. The District also generates hydroelectric power which can be 

sold to Pacific Gas & Electric at three small generating stations along the main transmission pipeline and 

a fourth at Schaads Reservoir. 

 

The goal of this rate study is to determine a rate plan to cover the District’s cost of service for the next 

five years. The cost of service includes operations, maintenance, capital improvements, and debt 

service. The last rate study was conducted in 2019, and rates were last increased July 1, 2022. Since the 

prior rate study, the District has issued new debt to finance the Clearwell Water Tank Replacement 

project which was not anticipated. An update to the rates is needed to ensure that the District can meet 

its debt coverage ratio in subsequent years. Without a rate increase, the District will fail to meet its 

coverage ratio due to insufficient operating revenues.  

 

Additionally, this rate study is intended to update the current rate structure and bring rates more into 

alignment with American Water Works Association (AWWA) methodologies and recommendations. The 

District’s current rate structure includes a base amount of water in the fixed monthly fee and higher 

levels of consumption are charged less per unit of water. Due to State water conservation requirements, 

this type of rate structure is no longer commonly used. This study proposes to simplify and update the 

District’s rates. 

 

1.2 Requirements of Proposition 218  
The implementation of utility rates in California are governed by the substantive and procedural 

requirements of Proposition 218 the “Right to Vote on Taxes Act” which is codified as Articles XIIIC and 

XIIID of the California Constitution. The District must follow the procedural requirements of Proposition 

218 for all utility rate increases. These requirements include:  

 

1. Noticing Requirement – The District must mail a notice of the proposed rate increases to all 

affected property owners or ratepayers. The notice must specify the amount of the fee, the 

basis upon which it was calculated, the reason for the fee, and the date/time/location of a 

public rate hearing at which the proposed rates will be considered/adopted.  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 2                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2. Public Hearing – The District must hold a public hearing prior to adopting the proposed rate 

increases. The public hearing must be held not less than 45 days after the required notices are 

mailed. 

3. Rate Increases Subject to Majority Protest – At the public hearing, the proposed rate increases 

are subject to majority protest. If more than 50% of affected property owners or ratepayers 

submit written protests against the proposed rate increases, the increases cannot be adopted. 

Proposition 218 also established substantive requirements that apply to water rates and charges, 

including: 

 

1. Cost of Service – Revenues derived from the fee or charge cannot exceed the funds required to 

provide the service. In essence, fees cannot exceed the “cost of service”. 

2. Intended Purpose – Revenues derived from the fee or charge can only be used for the purpose 

for which the fee was imposed. 

3. Proportional Cost Recovery – The amount of the fee or charge levied on any customer shall not 

exceed the proportional cost of service attributable to that customer. 

4. Availability of Service – No fee or charge may be imposed for a service unless that service is 

used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the property.  

5. General Government Services – No fee or charge may be imposed for general governmental 

services where the service is available to the public at large. 

Charges for water service are exempt from additional voting requirements of Proposition 218, provided 

the charges do not exceed the cost of providing service and are adopted pursuant to the procedural 

requirements of Proposition 218. 

 

1.3 Rate Study Process 
The American Water Works Association recommends that utilities set rates based on the actual cost of 

providing service and assign rates to customers based on how they use the system. A summary of the 

rate study process is provided in Figure 1. 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 3                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Figure 1: Rate Study Process 
    

t of Service Study Process 

 

 

 

 

The following is a brief description of the rate study process: 

 

▪ Revenue Requirement – Revenue requirements are analyzed via a cash flow projection based 

on the best information currently available such as the District’s historical operating results, 

budgets, and audits. The cash flow serves as a roadmap for funding future operating costs and 

capital expenditures while maintaining long-term fiscal stability.  

 

▪ Cost of Service Allocation - The cost of service process builds on the revenue requirement 

analysis and assigns water costs to functional cost components: metering and customer service, 

base demand, and extra demand.  

 

▪ Rate Design - Rate design involves developing a rate structure that fairly recovers costs from 

customers. Final rate recommendations are designed to fund the District’s short- and long-term 

costs of providing service and fairly allocate costs to all customers and customer classes. 

 

The rates developed in this report are based on the best available information gathered from District 

budgets, audits, and input from staff. The cost allocations proposed herein are based on American 

Water Works Association methodologies and industry standard practice. The proposed rates are based 

on the reasonable cost of providing service and are proportional to the benefits received by each 

customer. 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 4                 

Water Rate Study                                   

1.4 Current and Proposed Water Rates 
The District’s current rate structure includes a fixed fee based on meter size and customer class that 

includes a base allotment of water plus volume rates for consumption over the base. The amount of 

water included in the base allotment varies with meter size such that larger meters are provided with 

more water in their base allotments. Water usage over the base is charged volume rates using a tiered 

structure. Multiple unit customers (including multifamily and some commercial accounts) have a base 

allotment of 3,000 gallons per dwelling unit and can take advantage of the District’s lower usage tier 

applicable to usage from 3,000 to 5,000 gallons per dwelling unit per month. The next tier covers usage 

from 5,001 to 20,000 gallons. This tier is applicable to multiple unit customers as well as 5/8” meter 

customers. 5/8” meter customers receive 5,000 gallons in their base allotment. The final tier 

encompasses usage above 20,000 gallons and is applicable to larger treated water customers and 

industrial customers. Agricultural customers are billed for usage above 60,000 gallons per month.  

 

CPUD’s water rates are proposed to be adjusted to cover the increased cost of service, simplify the rate 

categories, and better promote equity among customers. Current and proposed rates are provided in 

Table 1. It is proposed that new rates become effective July 1 of each year for the next five years. The 

base allotments are proposed to be eliminated such that the meter fees have no water usage included. 

Added to the meter fee is a debt service fee to recoup $133,000 annually for the Clearwell Project’s debt 

service repayment cost. The debt service fee is recommended to sunset in 2041 when the current debt 

obligation is fully repaid. The tiered rate structure is also eliminated. All treated usage is proposed to be 

charged a single rate and all untreated usage is also proposed to be charged a single rate for all levels of 

consumption. As shown, the proposed rate structure also includes drought rates that could be 

implemented during a water shortage emergency. The meter fees would remain the same, but the 

volume rates would increase. 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                                                                                          Page 5                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 1: Executive Summary - Current and Proposed Water Rates  

Calaveras Public Utility District       

Water Rate Study       

CURRENT PROPOSED 

 Usage 
Covered by 
Minimum 
(Gallons) 

 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 

Meter Size 
BASE RATE  

Meter Size - All customers; no water use is included in the base rate   
BASE 
RATE 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt  
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 5,000 5/8" x 3/4" $61.57  $4.73  $70.85  $4.73  $74.63  $4.73  $78.60  $4.73  $82.77  $4.73  
1" $103.75 20,000 1" $102.62  $7.88  $118.09  $7.88  $124.39  $7.88  $131.00  $7.88  $137.94  $7.88  
1-1/2" $188.46 40,000 1-1/2" $205.23  $15.77  $236.17  $15.77  $248.77  $15.77  $262.00  $15.77  $275.89  $15.77  
2" $357.83 80,000 2" $328.37  $25.23  $377.87  $25.23  $398.03  $25.23  $419.19  $25.23  $441.41  $25.23  
4" $654.24 150,000 4" $1,026.17  $78.83  $1,180.87  $78.83  $1,243.86  $78.83  $1,309.99  $78.83  $1,379.43  $78.83  
6" $865.97 200,000 6" $2,052.33  $157.67  $2,361.73  $157.67  $2,487.70  $157.67  $2,619.97  $157.67  $2,758.85  $157.67  
8" $1,077.70 250,000 8" $3,283.73  $252.27  $3,778.77  $252.27  $3,980.32  $252.27  $4,191.95  $252.27  $4,414.16  $252.27  

         

Multi Unit* $38.68 3,000 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 
Agricultural $273.14 60,000 VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Normal Water Year   
Industrial $865.97 200,000 Treated Water $4.32  $4.92 $5.17  $5.43  $5.70  
*Multi unit usage 3,000 gallons or less/month 
avg/unit 

Agricultural/Untreated $3.48  $3.97 $4.17  $4.38  $4.60  
     

VOLUME RATES   VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Drought Conditions   
Treated Water (gallons) - Use over Minimum 20% Cutback      

3,001 to 5,000  $1.24 $/hundred gal.  Treated water  $4.96  $5.65 $5.93  $6.23  $6.54  
5,001 to 20,000 $2.47 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.11  $4.69 $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  

> 20,000 $2.21 $/thousand gal. 30% Cutback      
Agricultural   Treated water  $5.41  $6.17 $6.48  $6.80  $7.14  
> 60,000 $1.70 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.55  $5.19 $5.45  $5.72  $6.01  

    40% Cutback      
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:  Treated water  $6.02  $6.86 $7.20  $7.56  $7.94  
Water Supply 
Shortage 

Conservation 
Level 

Usage 
Surcharge 

Agricultural water $5.15  $5.87 $6.16  $6.47  $6.79  
50% Cutback      

Stage 1 20% 11% Treated water  $6.86  $7.82 $8.21  $8.62  $9.05  
Stage 2 40% 21% Agricultural water $5.98  $6.82 $7.16  $7.52  $7.90  
Stage 3 75% 41%       
        



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 6                 

Water Rate Study                                   

A survey comparing CPUD’s typical water bill with other local agency bills is provided in Figure 2. The 

typical single-family customer in the District’s service area uses 8,500 gallons of water per month and is 

served by a 5/8” meter. Under the current rates, the typical customer pays $73.40 per month which is at 

the low end of bills surveyed. Under the proposed rates, the typical customer’s bill would increase to 

$103.02 per month which is at the higher end of bills surveyed.  

 

 

Figure 2: Typical Bill Survey 
    



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 7                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 2: CUSTOMER BASE AND CURRENT RATE REVENUES 
 

This section provides a description of the District’s current rate structure, customer base, and rate 

revenues.  

 

2.1 Current Rates 
The District’s current rate structure includes monthly base rates and usage (volume) rates. In addition, 

the District has a schedule of Drought Management Surcharges that can be implemented during water 

shortage emergencies.  

 

2.1.1 Base Rate 

All customers are charged a base rate that is dependent on their customer class (multiple unit, 

residential/commercial, agricultural, or industrial). Residential and commercial fixed charges are further 

subdivided based on meter size. The base rate for each customer includes a base allotment of water. 

The amount of water in the allotment varies based on customer class and meter size. All customers are 

charged the base fee regardless of water consumption; i.e. if a customer uses less than their allotted 

amount of water during the monthly billing period, they are still charged the full base rate. Untreated 

customers are only billed during months of the year when untreated water is available. 

 

2.1.2 Usage Rate 

In addition to the base rate, customers who exceed their water usage allotment pay a usage rate per 

thousand gallons of water consumption over the minimum. Multiple unit customers (including 

multifamily and some commercial accounts) have a base allotment of 3,000 gallons per unit and have a 

lower usage tier applicable to usage from 3,000 to 5,000 gallons per dwelling unit per month. All other 

customers have base allotments of 5,000 gallons or greater and thus cannot utilize the lower tier. The 

next tier covers usage from 5,001 to 20,000 gallons. This tier is applicable to multiple unit customers as 

well as 5/8” meter customers. 5/8” meter customers receive 5,000 gallons in their base allotment. The 

final tier encompasses usage above 20,000 gallons and is applicable to larger treated water customers 

and industrial customers. Agricultural customers are billed for usage above 60,000 gallons per month.  

 

2.1.3 Drought Management Surcharge 

The Drought Management Surcharges can only be implemented after notification to the District’s 

customers and after mandatory restriction declarations by the Board of Directors in accordance with 

District Resolution 2015-6. The Drought Management Surcharge is a percent increase levied upon water 

consumption that applies to the Usage Rates only. The surcharges are designed to recover revenue 

shortfalls in the event of a drought. 

 

2.1.4 Rate Summary 

A listing of the District’s rates over the past four years is provided in Table 2. July 1, 2022, the District 

implemented increases to the base rates but did not increase the volume rates.  

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 8                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 2: Historic and Current Monthly Water Rates 

Calaveras Public Utility District   
Water Rate Study      

Fiscal Year 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23   
Effective Date August 19, 2019 July 1, 2020 July 1, 2021 July 1, 2022   

      
BASE RATE       

Usage Covered 
by Minimum 

(Gallons) 

     
Residential, Commercial, and Untreated    

Meter Size     
5/8" x 3/4" $55.68 $58.55 $61.57 $64.75 5,000 
1" $89.22 $93.81 $98.66 $103.75 20,000 
1-1/2" $162.05 $170.40 $179.19 $188.46 40,000 
2" $307.68 $323.54 $340.24 $357.83 80,000 
4" $562.56 $591.56 $622.09 $654.24 150,000 
6" $744.62 $783.00 $823.41 $865.97 200,000 
8" $926.68 $974.44 $1,024.74 $1,077.70 250,000 
      
Residential and Commercial Multiple Units      
Usage 3,000 Gallons or 
less/month avg/unit $33.26 $34.97 $36.77 $38.68   
      
Agricultural       
First 60,000 Gallons $234.87 $246.97 $259.72 $273.14   
      
Industrial       
First 200,000 Gallons $744.62 $783.00 $823.41 $865.97   
      
      
USAGE CHARGE - OVER MINIMUM    
      
Residential, Commercial, and Untreated      
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.24  $2.35  $2.47  $2.47  $/1,000 gal  
> 20,000 gallons $2.00  $2.10  $2.21  $2.21  $/1,000 gal  
      
Residential and Commercial Multiple Units      
Usage below 5,000 gallons that 
is not included in base rate  $1.12  $1.18  $1.24  $1.24  $/100 gal  
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.24  $2.35  $2.47  $2.47  $/1,000 gal  
> 20,000 gallons $2.00  $2.10  $2.21  $2.21  $/1,000 gal  
      
Agricultural       
> 60,000 gallons $1.54  $1.62  $1.70  $1.70  $/1,000 gal  
      
Industrial       
> 200,000 gallons $2.00  $2.10  $2.21  $2.21  $/1,000 gal  
      
      
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:     
      

Water Supply Shortage 
Conservation 

Level 
Usage 

Surcharge     
Stage 1 20% 11%     
Stage 2 40% 21%     
Stage 3 75% 41%     
      

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 9                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.2 Typical Bills 
Water service bill calculations for a typical customer based on current rates are provided in Table 3. 

Based on CPUD billing records, the typical single family residential customer uses 8,500 gallons per 

month and has a 5/8” meter. Given that the monthly base volume for customers with 5/8” meters is 

5,000 gallons, the typical customer pays $73.40 each month. Typical winter water usage is 4,300 gallons 

which would not exceed the base allotment of 5,000 gallons. Thus, the average winter bill equals the 

base rate of $64.75. Typical summer usage is 14,500 gallons resulting in a monthly bill of $88.22. 

 

 

Table 3: Typical Bills Under Current Rates 
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

 
Average Bill – 8,500 gallons of usage 

 Fee  # of Units Total Charges 
Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  
Usage (thousand gallons)  

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5.0 $0.00  
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 3.5 $8.65  

Total Monthly Bill   $73.40  

      

Winter Bill – 4,300 gallons of usage 

 Fee  # of Units Total Charges 
Base Rate $64.75  x 1 $64.75  
Usage (thousand gallons)  

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 4.3 $0.00  
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 0.0 $0.00  

Total Monthly Bill   $64.75  

      

Summer Bill – 14,500 gallons of usage 

 Fee  # of Units Total Charges 
Base Rate $64.75  x 1 $64.75  
Usage (thousand gallons)  

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5.0 $0.00  
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 9.5 $23.47  

Total Monthly Bill   $88.22  

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 10                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.3 Customer Base 
The water utility has about 1,900 active accounts and 150 turned off accounts, as shown in Table 4. The 

5/8” meter size makes up the majority of the District’s customer base.  

 

 

Table 4: Number of Accounts  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study  
Customer Class No. of Accts % of Total 

      
Residential and Commercial     
Meter Size     
5/8" x 3/4" 1,677 81.1% 
1" 180 8.7% 
1-1/2" 12 0.6% 
2" 31 1.5% 
4" 6 0.3% 
6" 0 0.0% 
8" 1 0.0% 
MU 40 Residential (1.5”) 1 0.0% 
      
Agricultural 1 0.0% 
      
Untreated     
5/8" x 3/4" 3 0.1% 
1" 1 0.0% 
      
Fire Hydrant Meter 6 0.3% 
      
Turned off Accounts 148 7.2% 
      
TOTAL 2,067 100.0% 
      

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 11                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.4 Service Charge Revenues 
A summary of the District’s service charge revenues over the past three fiscal years (FY) is provided in 

Table 5. Base rates have historically made up about 80% of service charge revenues with about 20% 

generated from usage charges.  

 

 

Table 5: Water Service Revenue Summary 
Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study 

  FY2019/20 FY2020/21 FY2021/22 
Three-Year 

Average 

          
Base Rate $1,637,453 $1,723,111 $1,811,935  
Usage Charges $360,390 $438,908 $413,473  
Total Service Charges $1,997,843 $2,162,019 $2,225,408  
       
Base Rate 82.0% 79.7% 81.4% 81.0% 
Usage Charges 18.0% 20.3% 18.6% 19.0% 
Total Water Sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
          

 

 

Estimated FY2022/23 service charge revenues are provided in Table 6. Base rates are projected to 

generate about $1.9 million in revenue (about 82%) and usage charges are projected to generate about 

$0.4 million (about 18%).   

 

 

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 12                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 6: Projected Service Charge Revenues FY2022/23 
Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study 

BASE RATE 

Residential and Commercial Base Rate Count Fixed Revenue % of Total 

5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 1,592  $1,236,984 53.3% 
1" $103.75 140  $174,300 7.5% 
1-1/2" $188.46 5  $11,308 0.5% 
2" $357.83 25  $107,349 4.6% 
4" $654.24 5  $39,254 1.7% 
6" $865.97 0  $0 0.0% 
8" $1,077.70 1  $12,932 0.6% 

     
Residential and Commercial, 
Multiple Units $38.68 686  $318,414 13.7% 
     
Agricultural $273.14 1  $3,278 0.1% 
     
Untreated [1]         
5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 3  $1,166 0.1% 
1" $103.75 1  $623 0.0% 
     

Subtotal Fixed Revenue     $1,905,607 82.2% 
     

USAGE CHARGE 

Residential and Commercial Usage Charge 
Usage Above 

Base (gal) 
Usage Charge 

Revenue % of Total 

5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 60,548,947  $149,556 6.4% 
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 69,890,255  $154,457 6.7% 
     
Residential and Commercial, Multiple Units       
Usage below 5,000 gallons that is 
not included in base rate *per 
100 gallons $1.24 6,068,121  $75,245 3.2% 
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 11,422,291  $28,213 1.2% 
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 1,350,706  $2,985 0.1% 
     
Agricultural         
> 60,000 gallons $1.70 791,200  $1,345 0.1% 
     
Untreated         
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 100,950  $249 0.0% 
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 643,640  $1,422 0.1% 
     

Subtotal Consumption Revenue 150,816,110  $413,473 17.8% 
     

     
Total Water Sales Revenue     $2,319,080 100.0% 
     
1 - Untreated customers are only billed during portions of the year when untreated water is available.  
They are estimated to be charged 6 months out of the year. 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 13                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.5 Water Usage Statistics 
The District’s water usage over the past three years is provided in Table 7 below. Residential and 

commercial customers are responsible for the largest share of water use, representing about 86.8% of 

total use over the past three years. About 46% of water use falls within the base water allotments and 

about 54% falls above the base water allotments and is billed the volume rates. Total water use over the 

past four years is illustrated in Figure 3. As shown, the District has high summer peak usage compared to 

winter usage.  

 

 

Table 7: Water Consumption by Customer Class (Gallons)  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study  

Customer Class 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
Three-Year 

Average 
% of Total 

          

Consumption Below Base         

Residential and Commercial 110,805,112  118,048,730  112,800,770  113,884,871  39.6% 

Multiunit Residential 14,353,240  14,525,485  14,413,628  14,430,784  5.0% 

Agricultural 609,300  540,100  509,600  553,000  0.2% 

Untreated 182,220  160,690  58,980  133,963  0.0% 

Fire Hydrant Meter 902,340  2,397,740  2,558,310  1,952,797  0.7% 

Turned Off Accounts 1,376,150  340,849  1,652,362  1,123,120  0.4% 

Subtotal Below Base 128,228,362  136,013,594  131,993,650  132,078,535  45.9% 

      
    

Consumption Above Base         

Residential and Commercial 128,808,160  147,672,391  130,439,202  135,639,918  47.2% 

Multiunit Residential 16,866,957  20,671,699  18,841,118  18,793,258  6.5% 

Agricultural 469,900  739,600  791,200  666,900  0.2% 

Untreated 53,440  140,470  744,590  312,833  0.1% 

Fire Hydrant Meter 0  0  0  0  0.0% 

Turned Off Accounts 0  0  2,642  881  0.0% 

Subtotal Above Base 146,198,457  169,224,160  150,818,752  155,413,790  54.1% 

      
    

TOTAL WATER CONSUMPTION 274,426,819 305,237,754 282,812,402 287,492,325 100.0% 

            

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 14                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 

Figure 3: Historical Districtwide Total Monthly Water Use  

 
 
 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 15                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 3: COST OF SERVICE 
 

Proposition 218 requires that utility rates be based on the reasonable cost of providing service to 

customers. This section provides an analysis of revenues and expenses to determine the total cost of 

service to be recovered via rates. The cost of service is expressed in a cash flow table that illustrates 

revenue increases needed to keep up with expenses and maintain the financial health of the enterprise.  

 

3.1 Revenues 
In FY2022/23, the District expects to collect about $2.6 million in total revenues, of which about 89% will 

be collected from water sales. Other revenue sources include fees, hydroelectric generation revenues, 

taxes, cell tower leases, and Mokelumne Hill Sanitation District (MHSD) revenue. 

 

3.2 Expenses 

3.2.1 Operating Costs 

Major expenses include salaries, benefits, administration, operations, equipment, outside services, and 

utilities. Expenses are based on the District’s forecast included in the FY2022/23 Budget, except for 

electricity expenses, which are increased by 35% in FY2022/23 per direction from the District. Salaries 

and benefit expenses are escalated according to the District’s MOU dated September 2022. 

 

3.2.2 Debt Service Costs 

The District has one outstanding debt obligation – an installment purchase agreement issued in 2021 to 

finance the Clearwell Water Tank Replacement project. Annual debt service is about $133,000 per year 

and the obligation will be paid off in 2041. The amount financed was $2.035 million consisting of $2 

million in debt proceeds and $35,000 in issuance costs. The loan agreement requires that the District 

maintain a debt service coverage ratio of 1.20. Debt coverage is calculated as:  

 

(Revenue - Operating Expenses) / (Debt Service) 

 

A debt service coverage ratio is a financial measure of an agency’s ability to repay outstanding debt. 

Most forms of debt available to utilities, such as bonds, bank loans, and SRF loans, have legal 

requirements that obligate the borrower to maintain a debt coverage ratio typically ranging from 1.1 to 

1.25. Essentially, this means that the borrower has a 10% to 25% financial buffer in excess of the debt 

payment amount. The 10% to 25% debt service buffer can be used to fund capital improvements or be 

added to reserves.  

 

In FY2022/23, the District anticipates operating at a deficit meaning that it will need to use reserves to 

cover costs and it will not have sufficient operating revenues to meet its debt coverage requirement. 

Without a rate increase, the District will fail to meet its coverage ratio of 1.20 in subsequent years due 

to insufficient operating revenues. Thus, rates and fees must be set to meet this legal requirement. The 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 16                 

Water Rate Study                                   

rates proposed in this report are projected to generate operating revenues needed to allow CPUD to 

meet and exceed its current debt coverage requirement.  

 

3.2.3 Capital Costs 

Table 8 provides the District’s capital improvement plan for 2022/23. The majority of capital 

improvement spending will be toward the Clearwell Project. Additional capital costs include new 

equipment, meter reading software, office furniture, and transmission and distribution improvements. 

Capital improvement costs in FY2023/24 are projected at $100,000 and at $350,000 per year thereafter. 

These amounts are intended to cover repairs for wear and tear on the system and any unexpected or 

emergency expenses. To fund specific future projects, the District intends to secure grant funding so as 

to not burden the ratepayers.  

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 17                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 8: Capital Outlay Fiscal Year 2022/2023  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

 
Category Budgeted 

  

Water Treatment Improvements - Clearwell Project  
Environmental 16,536  

Design (Eng., Geotech, Survey, SCADA/ELEC) 188,076  

Phase 1 ‐ Construction 16,300  

Phase 2 ‐ Construction 1,725,449  

Phase 2 ‐ SCADA Integration (TSI Inc) 125,100  

Phase 2 ‐ Construction Management 391,035  

Phase 2 ‐ 5% Unforeseen Contingency 47,834  

Total Water Treatment Improvements 2,510,329  

  

Equipment/Vehicles  
New Equipment: Backhoe Lease (5year option 
$2450/Month) 29,400  

Auction Vehicles: F350 ‐ Estimate $3500 Proceeds (3,500) 

Old Backhoe ‐ Estimate $2500 Proceeds (2,500) 

Total Equipment/Vehicles 23,400  

  

Software  
Meter Reading  
Software/Devices - Needs to be completed with CUSI 25,000  

Total Software 25,000  

  

Building Improvements  
Office Furniture 45,000  

Business Server  
Board Room Improvements 10,000  

Total Office Improvements 55,000  

  

Water Distribution Improvements  
Rich Gulch Transmission Main Replacement ‐ Design 38,293  

Unforeseen Transmission and Distribution Projects 250,000  

Total Water Distribution Improvements 300,000  

  

Total Capital Overlay $2,913,729  

    

Source: Budget FY 2023  
 

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 18                 

Water Rate Study                                   

3.3 Reserves 
The accumulation of reasonable reserves is another factor to consider when determining the cost of 

service. Utilities should maintain reserves to fund issues such as unexpected costs and emergency 

repairs, to provide cash flow in case of customer billing or revenue collection issues, and to provide 

financial stability in case of lower water sales due to drought. Fund reserves also allow the District to 

maintain its financial health and positive credit ratings, especially during emergencies. 

 

The District maintains several reserve funds, including an Operating Reserve, Capital Reserve, Self-

Insurance Reserve, Rate Stabilization Reserve, Vehicle Fleet Reserve, Equipment Reserve, Technology 

Reserve, and Designated Project/Special Use Reserve. As of July 2022, CPUD had $4.7 million in total 

available reserves. In FY2021/22, the District spent down some of its Capital, Equipment, and Designated 

Project/Special Use reserves to fund capital projects. In FY2022/23, the District anticipates spending 

down additional capital reserves and a portion of its Rate Stabilization Reserve.  

 

A summary of the District’s current reserve funds and fund targets are provided in Error! Reference 

source not found.. The District has an existing Reserve Policy adopted by the Board of Directors. In 

addition to establishing the fund targets provided in Error! Reference source not found., this Policy 

outlines the specific purposes for which each reserve can be used. For instance, the Operating and Self-

Insurance reserves can be used at any time to meet cash flow requirements. The Board typically 

authorizes use of the Capital Reserve for specific items in the Capital Improvement Plan during the 

budget process, though reserves can be used to fund unforeseen capital replacements if needed. The 

Rate Stabilization Reserve is used to supplement annual operating revenues if they are five percent or 

more below projected revenues. The Vehicle Fleet, Equipment, and Technology reserves are used 

exclusively for the purchase of vehicles, equipment, and computer hardware and software. Projects 

funded by the Designated Project/Special Use Reserve are evaluated on a case-by-case basis and 

approved by the Board. 

 
 

Table 9: Current Reserve Policies 
Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study 

 

Reserve Category Target 

Operating Reserve 6 months O&M 

Capital Reserve 1 year’s costs 

Self-Insurance Reserve $200,000 

Rate Stabilization Fund 1 year’s water consumption revenue 

Vehicle Fleet Reserve Accumulate $10,000 per year up to $50,000 

Equipment Reserve Accumulate $10,000 per year up to $100,000 

Technology Reserve Accumulate $4,000 per year up to $40,000 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 19                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Designated Project/Special Use Reserve Accumulate $20,000 per year up to $100,000 

 

 

3.4 Water Cash Flow 

Figure 4 and Table 10 provides the water fund cash flow projection for FY2022/23 to FY2027/28. The 

cash flow is based on the FY2022/23 Budget and includes revenue increases such that the District covers 

costs and rebuilds its reserves over the next five years.  

 

In FY2022/23 the District is projected to end the year with an operating deficit meaning that operating 

expenses are greater than revenues and the District will need to use reserves to meet costs. Due to the 

deficit, the District is not expected to meet its debt coverage requirement. Moreover, due to large 

capital spending this fiscal year, the District’s total reserve balance is projected to be drawn down to 

about $1.3 million. This is less than the target of 50% of operating costs (about $1.53 million in 

FY2022/23).  

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 20                 

Water Rate Study                                   

With the proposed rate increase in FY2023/24, the District’s financial health is projected to improve 

significantly. The operating deficit is reversed, the District is projected to exceed its debt coverage 

requirement, and the District can fund $100,000 in capital improvements. With further proposed rates 

increases, capital funding is increased to $350,000 in future years, and the District rebuilds its reserves.  

 

 

Figure 4: Cash Flows  

 
  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 21                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 Table 10: Cash Flow Projection  

 Calaveras Public Utility District       

 Water Rate Study       
    Budget Years 1 -5: Proposition 218 

    2022/23 FY2023/24 FY2024/25 FY2025/26 FY2026/27 FY2027/28 
        

1 Overall Revenue Adjustment    33.0% 14.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 

2 Rate Increase Effective   Jul 1, 2023 Jul 1, 2024 Jul 1, 2025 Jul 1, 2026 Jul 1, 2027 
3        
4        
5 BEGINNING FUND BALANCE [1] $4,800,700  $1,300,800  $1,306,000  $1,399,200  $1,568,400  $1,828,600  
6        
7 REVENUES          

8 Water Service Charges 2,319,100 3,084,000 3,516,000 3,692,000 3,877,000 4,071,000 

9 Fees 37,900 50,000 57,000 60,000 63,000 66,000 

10 Hydro Revenue 76,400 102,000 116,000 122,000 128,000 134,000 

11 Taxes 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 

12 Interest (investments) 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 

13 Cell Tower Leases 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 

14 MHSD Revenue 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 

15 Grant Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 

16 Other Income 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

17 Total Revenue 2,612,600 3,415,200 3,868,200 4,053,200 4,247,200 4,450,200 
18        
19 EXPENSES          

20 Operational Expenses         

21 Salaries [2] 999,600 1,040,000 1,082,000 1,120,000 1,154,000 1,189,000 

22 Benefits [2] 881,500 917,000 954,000 987,000 1,017,000 1,048,000 

23 Conferences, Meetings, & Training 36,000 37,000 38,000 39,000 40,000 41,000 

24 Administration Expenses 297,100 306,000 315,000 325,000 334,000 344,000 

25 Operations Expense 313,300 323,000 332,000 342,000 353,000 364,000 

26 Outside Services 206,100 212,000 219,000 225,000 232,000 239,000 

27 Equipment Rent, Taxes, & Utilities 332,200 342,000 352,000 363,000 374,000 385,000 

28 Subtotal O&M 3,065,800 3,177,000 3,292,000 3,401,000 3,504,000 3,610,000 
29        
30 Net Operating Revenue (453,200) 238,200  576,200  652,200  743,200  840,200  
31   

     

32 Debt Service 133,000 133,000 133,000 133,000 133,000 133,000 

33        

34 Capital Projects 2,913,700 100,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 
35   

     

36 Total Expenses  6,112,500 3,410,000 3,775,000 3,884,000 3,987,000 4,093,000 
37   

     

38 Total Net Revenues  (3,499,900) 5,200  93,200  169,200  260,200  357,200  
39   

     

40 ENDING FUND BALANCE 1,300,800  1,306,000  1,399,200  1,568,400  1,828,600  2,185,800  
41        

 

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 22                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 

  Budget Years 1 -5: Proposition 218 

  2022/23 FY2023/24 FY2024/25 FY2025/26 FY2026/27 FY2027/28 

        
42        
43 Reserve Fund Targets [3]         

44 Operating Reserves 1,533,000  1,589,000  1,646,000  1,701,000  1,752,000  1,805,000  

45 Capital Reserves 0  350,000  375,000  400,000  450,000  500,000  

46 Self‐Insurance Reserves 200,000  200,000  200,000  200,000  200,000  200,000  

47 Rate Stabilization Reserve 547,000  657,000  716,000  748,000  778,000  809,000  

48 Vehicle Fleet Reserve 10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  

49 Equipment Reserve 10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  

50 Technology Reserve 4,000  4,000  4,000  4,000  4,000  4,000  

51 

Designated Project/Special Use 
Reserve 20,000  20,000  20,000  20,000  20,000  20,000  

52 Total Water Reserve Target 2,324,000  2,840,000  2,981,000  3,093,000  3,224,000  3,358,000  

53 Total Reserve Target Met? no no no no no no 
54        

55 

Debt Service Coverage Target - 
1.20x [4] -3.41 1.79 4.33 4.90 5.59 6.32 

56 Target Met? no yes yes yes yes yes 
57        

 1 - Source: Beginning Net Position from FY 2022-2023 Operational Budget 

 

2 - Salaries and Benefits expenses are escalated according to the District's MOU dated September 2022 rather than the District's 
Operating Budget Forecast 

 3 - District’s budgeted reserve targets 

 4 - Net Operating Revenue divided by Total Debt Service 

 

 

 

 
 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 23                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 4: RATE DESIGN 
 

The prior section determined the total cost of providing service to customers. In this section, the cost of 

service is assigned to fixed and volume rates to fairly recover costs based on how customers use the 

system. 

 

4.1 Rate Design Considerations 
The proposed rate structure described in this report eliminates the water allotment included in the 

monthly fixed fees and eliminates tiered rates such that all water use is billed a uniform rate per unit. 

The goal of updating the water rate structure is to simplify the existing rate categories and promote 

equity among customers, particularly those that use lower volumes of water. Currently, the fixed fee per 

month includes a water allotment. For customers with a 5/8” meter, the base allotment is 5,000 gallons 

per month. However, the average customer only uses approximately 4,300 gallons per month during the 

winter months, meaning that the average customer is paying for water which they are not using 

throughout the winter. By eliminating the base allotment, customers would only pay for water they 

actually used and would have greater control over their bills. Additionally, per new State mandated 

water conservation regulations, non-billed water including water allotments may be subject to audits in 

the future. 

 

Untreated water customers will continue to be billed the same fixed fees as treated water customers 

according to meter size. The untreated volume rate will continue to be calculated as the treated rate 

discounted for treatment expenses which do not apply to untreated (raw) water customers. 

 

4.2 Cost Allocation Methodology 
The American Water Works Association (AWWA) recommends methods to classify costs among various 

customers. The base-extra capacity method was selected for this study. Costs are allocated to the 

following categories: (a) base, (b) extra, and (c) metering and customer service. The base category is 

intended to encompass expenses related to providing water under average conditions (“base”). The 

extra category includes costs related to providing water above the system average (i.e. related to peak 

or “extra” usage). The metering and customer service category encompasses costs related to overhead, 

administration, meter repairs, debt services, and the annual capital improvement cost.  

 

FY2023/24 was selected as the test year for cost allocation, see Table 11. The base and extra categories 

are combined into one category for cost allocation purposes and represent about 40% of total costs. The 

District intends to recover base and extra costs through uniform volume rates. This is in contrast to the 

District’s current rate plan, which recovers slightly less than 20% of rate revenues from volume rates. As 

shown in Table 11, some of the base & extra category costs are noted as treatment expenses such as lab 

and sampling costs, treatment electric, chemicals, etc. These expenses will be excluded from the 

untreated water rate. The metering and customer service category makes up about 60% of total costs 

that will be recovered through base rates. The allocation percentages determined in Table 11 are 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 24                 

Water Rate Study                                   

multiplied by the cost of service determined via the cash flow in Table 10 to calculate the total amount 

of revenue to be recovered from fixed and volume rates. 

 

 

Table 11: Cost Allocation  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

     

Budgeted Expenses 
Budget 

2023/24 
Base & Extra 
(usage rate) 

 

Meters & 
Customer 

Service 
(meter fee) 

Notes 

          
Operating Expenses         
Salaries 1,040,000 33.33%  66.67% 33/67 
Benefits 917,000 33.33%  66.67% 33/67 
Conferences, Meetings, & Training 37,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
Administration Expenses 306,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
Operations Expense         

Treatment Expenses 189,666 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Chemicals 14,600 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Meter Repairs 32,445 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
All Other Operations Expense 86,288 100.00%  0.00% Supply 

Outside Services         
Lab & Sampling 9,666 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Engineering & Dam Consultants 59,225 100.00%  0.00% Supply 
All Other Outside Services 143,109 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 

Equipment Rent, Taxes, & Utilities        
Treatment Electric 22,801 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Office Electric 5,587 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
All Other Expenses 313,612 100.00%  0.00% Supply 

Subtotal O&M 3,177,000 1,348,000  1,829,000   
          

Non-Operating Expenses         
Debt Service 133,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
Capital Projects  100,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 

Subtotal Non-Operating 233,000 0  233,000   
          
Total Expenses (for Allocation) 3,410,000 1,348,000  2,062,000   
Proposed Cost Allocation % 100.00% 39.54%  60.46%   
            



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 25                 

Water Rate Study                                   

4.3 Meter Equivalents 
For the metering and customer service revenue requirement, AWWA guidelines recommend using 

meter equivalents to assign capacity-related costs to larger meter sizes. Utility infrastructure is typically 

designed to meet peak demands associated with the maximum flow rate of each meter. The flow of 

larger meters compared to the base meter size of 5/8” determines the meter equivalents, see Table 12. 

 

 

Table 12: Number of Meter Equivalents  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

   

Meter Size 
No. of 
Meters 

Flow Rate 
(gpm) 

Meter 
Ratio 

No. of Meter 
Equivalents 

5/8" x 3/4" 1,680 30 1.00  1,680 
1" 181 50 1.67  302 
1-1/2" 13 100 3.33  43 
2" 31 160 5.33  165 
4" 6 500 16.67  100 
6" 0 1,000 33.33  0 
8" 1 1,600 53.33  53 
TOTAL [1] 1,912   2,344 

gpm – gallons per minute 
1 - Excludes turned off accounts and fire hydrant meters 

 

 

4.4 Rate Calculation 
CPUD’s FY2023/24 rate calculation is provided in Error! Reference source not found.. The total cost to 

be recovered from the base & extra category from volume rates is $1.22 million based on the FY2023/24 

revenue requirement of $3,084,000 multiplied by the allocation percentage of 39.54%. $237,000 is 

attributable to treatment expenses and about $983,000 is attributable to other supply costs. Treatment 

expenses are divided by estimated treated water consumption to calculate a rate of $0.84 per thousand 

gallons. All other supply costs are divided by total water consumption (treated and raw water usage) to 

calculate a rate of $3.48 per thousand gallons. The total treated water rate is $4.32 per thousand gallons 

which is made up of the treatment rate plus the supply rate.  

 

The meters & customer service fee is calculated as the total FY2023/24 revenue requirement of 

$3,084,000 multiplied by the allocation percentage of 60.46% and divided by the number of meter 

equivalents. This cost is further subdivided between debt service expenses and non-debt service 

expenses. The cost per meter equivalent is $66.30 (debt service fee of $4.73 plus the meter fee of 

$61.57).. In Error! Reference source not found., the cost per meter equivalent is multiplied by the 

number of equivalents for larger meters to determine the full schedule of monthly base rates. As 

described, no water use is proposed to be included in the base rate.  

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 26                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 13: FY2023/24 Rate Calculation   

Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study      

  
Total 

Base & Extra (usage rate) 
Meters & Customer 

Service 

  

Treatment 
Expenses 

All Other 
Supply 

Expenses 

Debt 
Service 

Meter Fee 

         
2023/24 Revenue Req. $3,084,000 $236,733 $982,583 $133,000 $1,731,697 
Cost Allocation % 100.00% 7.68% 31.86% 4.31% 56.15% 
          
2023/24 Units of Service 
(estimated) 
  

  280,981 282,281  2,344 2,344 

  
Usage (thousand gallons) # of Meter 

Equivalents 
# of Meter 
Equivalents 

          
2023/24 Rate   $0.84 $3.48 $4.73 $61.57 

    $/thousand gal $/ thousand gal 
$/meter 

equivalent 
$/meter 

equivalent 
          

 

 

 

Table 14: FY2023/24 Base Rates for Larger Meter Sizes 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study 
  
Meter Size Ratio Debt Service Meter Fee 

5/8" x 3/4"  1.00  $4.73 $61.57 
1"  1.67  $7.88 $102.62 
1-1/2" 3.33  $15.77 $205.23 
2" 5.33  $25.23 $328.37 
4" 16.67  $78.83 $1,026.17 
6" 33.33  $157.67 $2,052.33 
8" 53.33  $252.27 $3,283.73 
     

 

4.5 Drought Rates 
Table 15 provides the cost allocation for the base & extra category under various water cutback 

scenarios. The 0% column is the volume rate allocation under normal water year conditions (i.e. 0% 

cutback) and matches the allocation in Table 11. Columns noted as 20% to 50% represent potential 

water shortage scenarios. During drought conditions, water consumption will decrease and some of the 

District’s expenses will also decrease proportionally. These expenses are highlighted grey in Table 15. 

Other expenses such as staffing, rental of equipment, and safety supplies for the operators will remain 

the same. The bottom row of Table 15 provides percentages which illustrate how supply related 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 27                 

Water Rate Study                                   

expenses are expected to vary under the cutback scenarios. Under a 50% water cutback, non-treatment 

base & extra costs are expected to total about 85.9% of the normal water year costs.  

 

Table 15: Base & Extra Cost Allocation Under Various Water Cutback Scenarios 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study 
      

Budgeted Expenses 
Budget 

FY2023/24 

Base & Extra Costs Under Water Cutback Scenarios 

0% 20% 30% 40% 50% 

Operating Expenses          
Salaries 1,040,000 346,667  346,667  346,667  346,667  346,667  
Benefits 917,000 305,667  305,667  305,667  305,667  305,667  
Conferences, Meetings, & Training 37,000 0  0  0  0  0  
Administration Expenses 306,000 0  0  0  0  0  
Operations Expense   0  0  0  0  0  

Treatment Expenses 189,666 189,666  151,733  132,766  113,800  94,833  
Chemicals 14,600 14,600  11,680  10,220  8,760  7,300  
Meter Repairs 32,445 0  0  0  0  0  
All Other Operations Expense 86,288 86,288  86,288  86,288  86,288  86,288  

Outside Services 0  0  0  0  0  0  
Lab & Sampling 9,666 9,666  9,666  9,666  9,666  9,666  
Engineering & Dam Consultants 59,225 59,225  59,225  59,225  59,225  59,225  
All Other Outside Services 143,109 0  0  0  0  0  

Equipment Rent, Taxes, & Utilities   0  0  0  0  0  
Treatment Electric 22,801 22,801  18,241  15,961  13,681  11,400  
Office Electric 5,587 0  0  0  0  0  
All Other Expenses 313,612 313,612  250,889  219,528  188,167  156,806  

Subtotal O&M 3,177,000 1,348,192 1,240,056 1,185,988 1,131,920 1,077,852 
           

Non-Operating Expenses          
Debt Service 133,000 0  0  0  0  0  
Capital Projects 100,000 0  0  0  0  0  

Subtotal Non-Operating 233,000 0 0 0 0 0 
           
Total Expenses  3,410,000 1,348,192 1,240,056 1,185,988 1,131,920 1,077,852 
           
Treatment Expenses   236,733 191,320 168,613 145,906 123,199 
           
All Other Supply Expenses   1,111,458 1,048,736 1,017,375 986,014 954,653 
Ratio of All Other Supply Expenses 
relative to Normal Water Year     

94.36% 91.54% 88.71% 85.89% 

 

 

Table 16 provides drought rate calculations. Treatment expenses under each cutback scenario are 

divided by treated water usage. For all other supply costs, the ratios shown at the bottom of Table 15 

are multiplied by the supply revenue requirement shown in Error! Reference source not found. 

($983,000). This determines the revenue requirement which is then divided by estimated total usage.  

 

 

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 28                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 16: FY2023/24 Drought Rates  

Calaveras Public Utility District    
Water Rate Study 

   

Category 
Treatment 
Expenses 

All Other 
Supply 

Expenses 
Total 

20% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $191,320 $927,121 $1,118,440 

Units of Service (thousand gal) 224,784  225,825    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.85 $4.11 $4.96 

      

30% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $168,613 $899,396 $1,068,009 

Units of Service (thousand gal) 196,686  197,597    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.86 $4.55 $5.41 

      

40% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $145,906 $871,672 $1,017,578 

Units of Service (thousand gal) 168,588  169,369    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.87 $5.15 $6.02 

      

50% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $123,199 $843,948 $967,147 

Units of Service (thousand gal) 140,490  141,141    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.88 $5.98 $6.86 

        

 

 

4.6 Proposed 5-Year Rate Plan 
The District’s 5-year rate plan is provided in Error! Reference source not found.. The rates are proposed 

to be effective July 1 of each year beginning in 2023 to correspond to the District’s fiscal year. The 

FY2023/24 rates are calculated in the preceding tables. Rates for FY2024/25 and beyond are calculated 

as the FY2023/24 rates increased by the percents shown in the cash flow in Table 10. FY2024/25 rates 

are increased by 14% and the rates for FY2025/26 through FY2027/28 are increased by 5% annually. It 

should be noted that the total base rates (debt service fee plus meter fee) are increased by the 

percentages shown in Table 10 while the debt service portion is proposed to remain the same over the 

5-year rate study period. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                                                                                           Page 29                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 17: Current and Proposed Water Rates  

Calaveras Public Utility District       

Water Rate Study       

CURRENT PROPOSED 

 Usage 
Covered by 
Minimum 
(Gallons) 

 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 

Meter Size 
BASE RATE  

Meter Size - All customers; no water use is included in the base rate   
BASE 
RATE 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt  
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 5,000 5/8" x 3/4" $61.57  $4.73  $70.85  $4.73  $74.63  $4.73  $78.60  $4.73  $82.77  $4.73  
1" $103.75 20,000 1" $102.62  $7.88  $118.09  $7.88  $124.39  $7.88  $131.00  $7.88  $137.94  $7.88  
1-1/2" $188.46 40,000 1-1/2" $205.23  $15.77  $236.17  $15.77  $248.77  $15.77  $262.00  $15.77  $275.89  $15.77  
2" $357.83 80,000 2" $328.37  $25.23  $377.87  $25.23  $398.03  $25.23  $419.19  $25.23  $441.41  $25.23  
4" $654.24 150,000 4" $1,026.17  $78.83  $1,180.87  $78.83  $1,243.86  $78.83  $1,309.99  $78.83  $1,379.43  $78.83  
6" $865.97 200,000 6" $2,052.33  $157.67  $2,361.73  $157.67  $2,487.70  $157.67  $2,619.97  $157.67  $2,758.85  $157.67  
8" $1,077.70 250,000 8" $3,283.73  $252.27  $3,778.77  $252.27  $3,980.32  $252.27  $4,191.95  $252.27  $4,414.16  $252.27  

         

Multi Unit* $38.68 3,000 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 
Agricultural $273.14 60,000 VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Normal Water Year   
Industrial $865.97 200,000 Treated Water $4.32  $4.92 $5.17  $5.43  $5.70  
*Multi unit usage 3,000 gallons or less/month 
avg/unit 

Agricultural/Untreated $3.48  $3.97 $4.17  $4.38  $4.60  
     

VOLUME RATES   VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Drought Conditions   
Treated Water (gallons) - Use over Minimum 20% Cutback      

3,001 to 5,000  $1.24 $/hundred gal.  Treated water  $4.96  $5.65 $5.93  $6.23  $6.54  
5,001 to 20,000 $2.47 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.11  $4.69 $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  

> 20,000 $2.21 $/thousand gal. 30% Cutback      
Agricultural   Treated water  $5.41  $6.17 $6.48  $6.80  $7.14  
> 60,000 $1.70 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.55  $5.19 $5.45  $5.72  $6.01  

    40% Cutback      
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:  Treated water  $6.02  $6.86 $7.20  $7.56  $7.94  
Water Supply 
Shortage 

Conservation 
Level 

Usage 
Surcharge 

Agricultural water $5.15  $5.87 $6.16  $6.47  $6.79  
50% Cutback      

Stage 1 20% 11% Treated water  $6.86  $7.82 $8.21  $8.62  $9.05  
Stage 2 40% 21% Agricultural water $5.98  $6.82 $7.16  $7.52  $7.90  
Stage 3 75% 41%       
        



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 30                 

Water Rate Study                                   

4.7 Bill Impacts 
Error! Reference source not found. provides impacts to a typical customer’s bill based on average 

monthly usage, winter usage, and summer usage under the proposed rates. The typical summer bill is 

proposed to increase to a greater extent than the typical winter bill which reflects a higher percent of 

District revenue recovered through volume rates.  

 

Table 18: Comparison of Current and Proposed Single Family Residential Bills 

Calaveras Public Utility District        
Water Rate Study 

       

Average Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Meter Fee $61.57  x 1 $61.57   
     Debt Fee $4.73 x 1 $4.73  
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage  

(all use) 
$4.32  x 8.5 $36.72   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 3.5 $8.65         

Total Monthly Bill   $73.40  Total Monthly Bill   $103.02  40% 

            
Winter Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Meter Fee $61.57  x 1 $61.57   
     Debt Fee $4.73 x 1 $4.73  
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage  

(all use) 
$4.32  x 4.3 $18.58   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 4.3 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 0 $0.00         

Total Monthly Bill   $64.75  Total Monthly Bill   $84.88  31% 

            
Summer Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Meter Fee $61.57  x 1 $61.57   
     Debt Fee $4.73 x 1 $4.73  
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage 

(all use)  
$4.32  x 14.5 $62.64   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 9.5 $23.47         

Total Monthly Bill   $88.22  Total Monthly Bill   $128.94  46% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 31                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Figure 5 provides the distribution of bill impacts under the proposed rates for single family customers 

served on 5/8” meters. About 1/3 of monthly bills will receive increases of $15 or less.  

 

 

Figure 5: Bill Impact Analysis for Single Family Customers with 5/8” Meters  

 



 

 

  

 

 

  

 
  

 
 

 

 

 

Water Rate Study 

 for the 

Calaveras Public Utility District 
 

 

Draft FINAL Report 

February March 246, 2023 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

909 Marina Village Parkway #135 
Alameda, CA 94501 

(510) 545-3182 
www.LTmuniconsultants.com 



 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study                                                                      

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................. 1 
1.1 Background ....................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Requirements of Proposition 218 ..................................................................................... 1 
1.3 Rate Study Process ............................................................................................................ 2 
1.4 Current and Proposed Water Rates .................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 2: CUSTOMER BASE AND CURRENT RATE REVENUES ......................................................... 8 
2.1 Current Rates .................................................................................................................... 8 
2.2 Typical Bills ...................................................................................................................... 10 
2.3 Customer Base ................................................................................................................ 11 
2.4 Service Charge Revenues ................................................................................................ 12 
2.5 Water Usage Statistics .................................................................................................... 14 

SECTION 3: COST OF SERVICE .......................................................................................................... 16 
3.1 Revenues ......................................................................................................................... 16 
3.2 Expenses .......................................................................................................................... 16 
3.3 Reserves .......................................................................................................................... 19 
3.4 Water Cash Flow ......................................................................................................... 2120 

SECTION 4: RATE DESIGN ............................................................................................................. 2524 
4.1 Rate Design Considerations ........................................................................................ 2524 
4.2 Cost Allocation Methodology ..................................................................................... 2524 
4.3 Meter Equivalents ....................................................................................................... 2726 
4.4 Rate Calculation .......................................................................................................... 2726 
4.5 Drought Rates ............................................................................................................. 2927 
4.6 Proposed 5-Year Rate Plan .......................................................................................... 3129 
4.7 Bill Impacts .................................................................................................................. 3432 

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ................................................................. 1 
1.1 Background ....................................................................................................................... 1 
1.2 Requirements of Proposition 218 ..................................................................................... 1 
1.3 Rate Study Process ............................................................................................................ 2 
1.4 Current and Proposed Water Rates .................................................................................. 4 

SECTION 2: CUSTOMER BASE AND CURRENT RATE REVENUES ......................................................... 7 
2.1 Current Rates .................................................................................................................... 7 
2.2 Typical Bills ........................................................................................................................ 9 
2.3 Customer Base ................................................................................................................ 10 
2.4 Service Charge Revenues ................................................................................................ 11 
2.5 Water Usage Statistics .................................................................................................... 13 

SECTION 3: COST OF SERVICE .......................................................................................................... 15 
3.1 Revenues ......................................................................................................................... 15 
3.2 Expenses .......................................................................................................................... 15 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study                                                                      

3.3 Reserves .......................................................................................................................... 18 
3.4 Water Cash Flow ............................................................................................................. 19 

SECTION 4: RATE DESIGN ................................................................................................................. 23 
4.1 Rate Design Considerations ............................................................................................ 23 
4.2 Cost Allocation Methodology ......................................................................................... 23 
4.3 Meter Equivalents ........................................................................................................... 25 
4.4 Rate Calculation .............................................................................................................. 25 
4.5 Drought Rates ................................................................................................................. 26 
4.6 Proposed 5-Year Rate Plan .............................................................................................. 28 
4.7 Bill Impacts ...................................................................................................................... 30 

 

 
 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study                                                                      

LIST OF TABLES 
 

Table 1: Executive Summary - Current and Proposed Water Rates ........................................................... 65 
Table 2: Historic and Current Monthly Water Rates .................................................................................... 9 
Table 3: Typical Bills Under Current Rates .................................................................................................. 10 
Table 4: Number of Accounts ..................................................................................................................... 11 
Table 5: Water Service Revenue Summary ................................................................................................. 12 
Table 6: Projected Service Charge Revenues FY2022/23 ........................................................................... 13 
Table 7: Water Consumption by Customer Class (Gallons) ........................................................................ 14 
Table 8: Capital Outlay Fiscal Year 2022/2023 ........................................................................................... 18 
Table 9: Current Reserve Policies ........................................................................................................... 2019 
Table 10: Cash Flow Projection ............................................................................................................... 2322 
Table 11: Cost Allocation ........................................................................................................................ 2625 
Table 12: Number of Meter Equivalents ................................................................................................. 2726 
Table 13: FY2023/24 Rate Calculation .................................................................................................... 2827 
Table 14: FY2023/24 Base Rates for Larger Meter Sizes ........................................................................ 2927 
Table 15: Base & Extra Cost Allocation Under Various Water Cutback Scenarios.................................. 2928 
Table 16: FY2023/24 Drought Rates ....................................................................................................... 3029 
Table 17: Current and Proposed Water Rates ........................................................................................ 3331 
Table 18: Comparison of Current and Proposed Single Family Residential Bills .................................... 3432 
Table 1: Executive Summary - Current and Proposed Water Rates ............................................................. 5 
Table 2: Historic and Current Monthly Water Rates .................................................................................... 8 
Table 3: Typical Bills Under Current Rates .................................................................................................... 9 
Table 4: Number of Accounts ..................................................................................................................... 10 
Table 5: Water Service Revenue Summary ................................................................................................. 11 
Table 6: Projected Service Charge Revenues FY2022/23 ........................................................................... 12 
Table 7: Water Consumption by Customer Class (Gallons) ........................................................................ 13 
Table 8: Capital Outlay Fiscal Year 2022/2023 ........................................................................................... 17 
Table 9: Reserve Fund Recommendations .................................................................................................. 19 
Table 10: Cash Flow Projection ................................................................................................................... 21 
Table 11: Cost Allocation ............................................................................................................................ 24 
Table 12: Number of Meter Equivalents ..................................................................................................... 25 
Table 13: FY2023/24 Rate Calculation ........................................................................................................ 26 
Table 14: FY2023/24 Base Rates for Larger Meter Sizes ............................................................................ 26 
Table 15: Base & Extra Cost Allocation Under Various Water Cutback Scenarios...................................... 27 
Table 16: FY2023/24 Drought Rates ........................................................................................................... 28 
Table 17: Current and Proposed Water Rates ............................................................................................ 29 
Table 18: Comparison of Current and Proposed Single Family Residential Bills ........................................ 30 

 

 
 

LIST OF FIGURES 
 
Figure 1: Rate Study Process ......................................................................................................................... 3 
Figure 2: Typical Bill Survey ........................................................................................................................... 7 
Figure 3: Historical Districtwide Total Monthly Water Use ........................................................................ 15 
Figure 4: Cash Flows ................................................................................................................................ 2221 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study                                                                      

Figure 5: Bill Impact Analysis for Single Family Customers with 5/8” Meters ........................................ 3633 
Figure 1: Rate Study Process ......................................................................................................................... 3 
Figure 2: Typical Bill Survey ........................................................................................................................... 6 
Figure 3: Historical Districtwide Total Monthly Water Use ........................................................................ 14 
Figure 4: Cash Flows .................................................................................................................................... 20 
Figure 5: Bill Impact Analysis for Single Family Customers with 5/8” Meters ............................................ 31 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 1                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 1: INTRODUCTION AND EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1 Background 
The Calaveras Public Utility District (CPUD or District) was established on January 19, 1934 as a public 

owned utility. The District is located approximately 60 miles southeast of Sacramento and provides 

water services to the communities of Railroad Flat, Glencoe, Paloma, Mokelumne Hill, and San Andreas, 

California. The District serves a population of roughly 6,350 people within its over 35 square mile area. 

The District’s customer base includes both rural areas and the more densely populated areas of San 

Andreas and Mokelumne Hill which include residential customers, offices, schools, and businesses. The 

vast majority of customers receive treated water, though CPUD provides limited raw water service to 

four accounts in the Railroad Flat area. The District also generates hydroelectric power which can be 

sold to Pacific Gas & Electric at three small generating stations along the main transmission pipeline and 

a fourth at Schaads Reservoir. 

 

The goal of this rate study is to determine a rate plan to cover the District’s cost of service for the next 

five years. The cost of service includes operations, maintenance, capital improvements, and debt 

service. The last rate study was conducted in 2019, and rates were last increased July 1, 2022. Since the 

prior rate study, the District has issued new debt to finance the Clearwell Water Tank Replacement 

project which was not anticipated. An update to the rates is needed to ensure that the District can meet 

its debt coverage ratio in subsequent years. Without a rate increase, the District will fail to meet its 

coverage ratio due to insufficient operating revenues.  

 

Additionally, this rate study is intended to update the current rate structure and bring rates more into 

alignment with American Water Works Association (AWWA) methodologies and recommendations. The 

District’s current rate structure includes a base amount of water in the fixed monthly fee and higher 

levels of consumption are charged less per unit of water. Due to State water conservation requirements, 

this type of rate structure is no longer commonly used. This study proposes to simplify and update the 

District’s rates. 

 

1.2 Requirements of Proposition 218  
The implementation of utility rates in California are governed by the substantive and procedural 

requirements of Proposition 218 the “Right to Vote on Taxes Act” which is codified as Articles XIIIC and 

XIIID of the California Constitution. The District must follow the procedural requirements of Proposition 

218 for all utility rate increases. These requirements include:  

 

1. Noticing Requirement – The District must mail a notice of the proposed rate increases to all 

affected property owners or ratepayers. The notice must specify the amount of the fee, the 

basis upon which it was calculated, the reason for the fee, and the date/time/location of a 

public rate hearing at which the proposed rates will be considered/adopted.  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 2                 

Water Rate Study                                   

1.  

2. Public Hearing – The District must hold a public hearing prior to adopting the proposed rate 

increases. The public hearing must be held not less than 45 days after the required notices are 

mailed. 

3. Rate Increases Subject to Majority Protest – At the public hearing, the proposed rate increases 

are subject to majority protest. If more than 50% of affected property owners or ratepayers 

submit written protests against the proposed rate increases, the increases cannot be adopted. 

Proposition 218 also established substantive requirements that apply to water rates and charges, 

including: 

 

1. Cost of Service – Revenues derived from the fee or charge cannot exceed the funds required to 

provide the service. In essence, fees cannot exceed the “cost of service”. 

2. Intended Purpose – Revenues derived from the fee or charge can only be used for the purpose 

for which the fee was imposed. 

3. Proportional Cost Recovery – The amount of the fee or charge levied on any customer shall not 

exceed the proportional cost of service attributable to that customer. 

4. Availability of Service – No fee or charge may be imposed for a service unless that service is 

used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the property.  

5. General Government Services – No fee or charge may be imposed for general governmental 

services where the service is available to the public at large. 

Charges for water service are exempt from additional voting requirements of Proposition 218, provided 

the charges do not exceed the cost of providing service and are adopted pursuant to the procedural 

requirements of Proposition 218. 

 

1.3 Rate Study Process 
The American Water Works Association recommends that utilities set rates based on the actual cost of 

providing service and assign rates to customers based on how they use the system. A summary of the 

rate study process is provided in Figure 1. 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 3                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Figure 1: Rate Study Process 
    

t of Service Study Process 

 

 

 

 

The following is a brief description of the rate study process: 

 

▪ Revenue Requirement – Revenue requirements are analyzed via a cash flow projection based 

on the best information currently available such as the District’s historical operating results, 

budgets, and audits. The cash flow serves as a roadmap for funding future operating costs and 

capital expenditures while maintaining long-term fiscal stability.  

 

▪ Cost of Service Allocation - The cost of service process builds on the revenue requirement 

analysis and assigns water costs to functional cost components: metering and customer service, 

base demand, and extra demand.  

 

▪ Rate Design - Rate design involves developing a rate structure that fairly recovers costs from 

customers. Final rate recommendations are designed to fund the District’s short- and long-term 

costs of providing service and fairly allocate costs to all customers and customer classes. 

 

The rates developed in this report are based on the best available information gathered from District 

budgets, audits, and input from staff. The cost allocations proposed herein are based on American 

Water Works Association methodologies and industry standard practice. The proposed rates are based 

on the reasonable cost of providing service and are proportional to the benefits received by each 

customer. 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 4                 

Water Rate Study                                   

1.4 Current and Proposed Water Rates 
The District’s current rate structure includes a fixed fee based on meter size and customer class that 

includes a base allotment of water plus volume rates for consumption over the base. The amount of 

water included in the base allotment varies with meter size such that larger meters are provided with 

more water in their base allotments. Water usage over the base is charged volume rates using a tiered 

structure. Multiple unit customers (including multi family and some commercial accounts) have a base 

allotment of 3,000 gallons per dwelling unit and can take advantage of the District’s lower usage tier 

applicable to usage from 3,000 to 5,000 gallons per dwelling unit per month. The next tier covers usage 

from 5,001 to 20,000 gallons. This tier is applicable to multiple unit customers as well as 5/8” meter 

customers. 5/8” meter customers receive 5,000 gallons in their base allotment. The final tier 

encompasses usage above 20,000 gallons and is applicable to larger treated water customers and 

industrial customers. Agricultural customers are billed for usage above 60,000 gallons per month.  

 

CPUD’s water rates are proposed to be adjusted to cover the increased cost of service, simplify the rate 

categories, and better promote equity among customers. Current and proposed rates are provided in 

Table 1. It is proposed that new rates become effective July 1 of each year for the next five years. The 

base allotments are proposed to be eliminated such that the meter fees have no water usage included. 

Added to the meter fee is a debt service fee to recoup $133,000 annually for the Clearwell Project’s debt 

service repayment cost. The debt service fee is recommended to sunset in 2041 when the current debt 

obligation is fully repaid. The tiered rate structure is also eliminated. All treated usage is proposed to be 

charged a single rate and all untreated usage is also proposed to be charged a single rate for all levels of 

consumption. As shown, the proposed rate structure also includes drought rates that could be 

implemented during a water shortage emergency. The meter fees would remain the same, but the 

volume rates would increase. 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                                                                                          Page 5                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 1: Executive Summary - Current and Proposed Water Rates 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District       

Water Rate Study 
  

      

CURRENT PROPOSED 

  Usage Covered 
by Minimum 

(Gallons) 

 
July 1, 
2023 

July 1, 
2024 

July 1, 
2025 

July 1, 
2026 

July 1,  
2027 

BASE RATE  BASE RATE       
Meter Size  Meter Size - All customers; no water use is included in the base rate 
5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 5,000 5/8" x 3/4" $66.30  $75.58  $79.36  $83.33  $87.50  
1" $103.75 20,000 1" $110.50  $125.97  $132.27  $138.88  $145.82  
1-1/2" $188.46 40,000 1-1/2" $221.00  $251.94  $264.54  $277.77  $291.66  
2" $357.83 80,000 2" $353.60  $403.10  $423.26  $444.42  $466.64  
4" $654.24 150,000 4" $1,105.00  $1,259.70  $1,322.69  $1,388.82  $1,458.26  
6" $865.97 200,000 6" $2,210.00  $2,519.40  $2,645.37  $2,777.64  $2,916.52  
8" $1,077.70 250,000 8" $3,536.00  $4,031.04  $4,232.59  $4,444.22  $4,666.43  
         

Residential and Commercial Multiple Units VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Normal Water Year 
Usage 3,000 Gallons or 
less/month avg/unit 

$38.68 3,000 Treated Water $4.32  $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  $5.70  

Agricultural $273.14 60,000  Agricultural/Untreated $3.48  $3.97  $4.17  $4.38  $4.60  
Industrial $865.97 200,000        
   VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Drought Conditions 

VOLUME RATES   20% Cutback      
Treated Water Use over Minimum Treated water  $4.96  $5.65  $5.93  $6.23  $6.54  

3,001 to 5,000 gallons $1.24 $/hundred gal.  Agricultural water $4.11  $4.69  $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 $/thousand gal. 30% Cutback      
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 $/thousand gal. Treated water  $5.41  $6.17  $6.48  $6.80  $7.14  

Agricultural   Agricultural water $4.55  $5.19  $5.45  $5.72  $6.01  
> 60,000 gallons $1.70 $/thousand gal. 40% Cutback      

    Treated water  $6.02  $6.86  $7.20  $7.56  $7.94  
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:  Agricultural water $5.15  $5.87  $6.16  $6.47  $6.79  

 Conservation 
Level 

 50% Cutback      
Water Supply Shortage Usage Surcharge Treated water  $6.86  $7.82  $8.21  $8.62  $9.05  

Stage 1 20% 11% Agricultural water $5.98  $6.82  $7.16  $7.52  $7.90  
Stage 2 40% 21%       
Stage 3 75% 41%       



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                                                                                          Page 6                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 1: Executive Summary - Current and Proposed Water Rates  

Calaveras Public Utility District       

Water Rate Study       

CURRENT PROPOSED 

 Usage 
Covered by 
Minimum 
(Gallons) 

 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 

Meter Size 
BASE RATE  

Meter Size - All customers; no water use is included in the base rate   
BASE 
RATE 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt  
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 5,000 5/8" x 3/4" $61.57  $4.73  $70.85  $4.73  $74.63  $4.73  $78.60  $4.73  $82.77  $4.73  
1" $103.75 20,000 1" $102.62  $7.88  $118.09  $7.88  $124.39  $7.88  $131.00  $7.88  $137.94  $7.88  
1-1/2" $188.46 40,000 1-1/2" $205.23  $15.77  $236.17  $15.77  $248.77  $15.77  $262.00  $15.77  $275.89  $15.77  
2" $357.83 80,000 2" $328.37  $25.23  $377.87  $25.23  $398.03  $25.23  $419.19  $25.23  $441.41  $25.23  
4" $654.24 150,000 4" $1,026.17  $78.83  $1,180.87  $78.83  $1,243.86  $78.83  $1,309.99  $78.83  $1,379.43  $78.83  
6" $865.97 200,000 6" $2,052.33  $157.67  $2,361.73  $157.67  $2,487.70  $157.67  $2,619.97  $157.67  $2,758.85  $157.67  
8" $1,077.70 250,000 8" $3,283.73  $252.27  $3,778.77  $252.27  $3,980.32  $252.27  $4,191.95  $252.27  $4,414.16  $252.27  

         

Multi Unit* $38.68 3,000 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 
Agricultural $273.14 60,000 VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Normal Water Year   
Industrial $865.97 200,000 Treated Water $4.32  $4.92 $5.17  $5.43  $5.70  
*Multi unit usage 3,000 gallons or less/month 
avg/unit 

Agricultural/Untreated $3.48  $3.97 $4.17  $4.38  $4.60  
     

VOLUME RATES   VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Drought Conditions   
Treated Water (gallons) - Use over Minimum 20% Cutback      

3,001 to 5,000  $1.24 $/hundred gal.  Treated water  $4.96  $5.65 $5.93  $6.23  $6.54  
5,001 to 20,000 $2.47 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.11  $4.69 $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  

> 20,000 $2.21 $/thousand gal. 30% Cutback      
Agricultural   Treated water  $5.41  $6.17 $6.48  $6.80  $7.14  
> 60,000 $1.70 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.55  $5.19 $5.45  $5.72  $6.01  

    40% Cutback      
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:  Treated water  $6.02  $6.86 $7.20  $7.56  $7.94  
Water Supply 
Shortage 

Conservation 
Level 

Usage 
Surcharge 

Agricultural water $5.15  $5.87 $6.16  $6.47  $6.79  
50% Cutback      

Stage 1 20% 11% Treated water  $6.86  $7.82 $8.21  $8.62  $9.05  
Stage 2 40% 21% Agricultural water $5.98  $6.82 $7.16  $7.52  $7.90  
Stage 3 75% 41%       
        



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 7                 

Water Rate Study                                   

A survey comparing CPUD’s typical water bill with other local agency bills is provided in Figure 2. The 

typical single family customer in the District’s service area uses 8,500 gallons of water per month and is 

served by a 5/8” meter. Under the current rates, the typical customer pays $73.40 per month which is at 

the low end of bills surveyed. Under the proposed rates, the typical customer’s bill would increase to 

$103.02 per month which is at the higher end of bills surveyed.  

 

 

Figure 2: Typical Bill Survey 
    

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 8                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 2: CUSTOMER BASE AND CURRENT RATE REVENUES 
 

This section provides a description of the District’s current rate structure, customer base, and rate 

revenues.  

 

2.1 Current Rates 
The District’s current rate structure includes monthly base rates and usage (volume) rates. In addition, 

the District has a schedule of Drought Management Surcharges that can be implemented during water 

shortage emergencies.  

 

2.1.1 Base Rate 

All customers are charged a base rate that is dependent on their customer class (multiple unit, 

residential/commercial, agricultural, or industrial). Residential and commercial fixed charges are further 

subdivided based on meter size. The base rate for each customer includes a base allotment of water. 

The amount of water in the allotment varies based on customer class and meter size. All customers are 

charged the base fee regardless of water consumption; i.e. if a customer uses less than their allotted 

amount of water during the monthly billing period, they are still charged the full base rate. Untreated 

customers are only billed during months of the year when untreated water is available. 

 

2.1.2 Usage Rate 

In addition to the base rate, customers who exceed their water usage allotment pay a usage rate per 

thousand gallons of water consumption over the minimum. Multiple unit customers (including multi 

family and some commercial accounts) have a base allotment of 3,000 gallons per unit and have a lower 

usage tier applicable to usage from 3,000 to 5,000 gallons per dwelling unit per month. All other 

customers have base allotments of 5,000 gallons or greater and thus cannot utilize the lower tier. The 

next tier covers usage from 5,001 to 20,000 gallons. This tier is applicable to multiple unit customers as 

well as 5/8” meter customers. 5/8” meter customers receive 5,000 gallons in their base allotment. The 

final tier encompasses usage above 20,000 gallons and is applicable to larger treated water customers 

and industrial customers. Agricultural customers are billed for usage above 60,000 gallons per month.  

 

2.1.3 Drought Management Surcharge 

The Drought Management Surcharges can only be implemented after notification to the District’s 

customers and after mandatory restriction declarations by the Board of Directors in accordance with 

District Resolution 2015-6. The Drought Management Surcharge is a percent increase levied upon water 

consumption that applies to the Usage Rates only. The surcharges are designed to recover revenue 

shortfalls in the event of a drought. 

 

2.1.4 Rate Summary 

A listing of the District’s rates over the past four years is provided in Table 2Table 2. July 1, 2022, the 

District implemented increases to the base rates but did not increase the volume rates.  

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 9                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 2: Historic and Current Monthly Water Rates 

Calaveras Public Utility District   
Water Rate Study      

Fiscal Year 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23   
Effective Date August 19, 2019 July 1, 2020 July 1, 2021 July 1, 2022   

      
BASE RATE       

Usage Covered 
by Minimum 

(Gallons) 

     
Residential, Commercial, and Untreated    

Meter Size     
5/8" x 3/4" $55.68 $58.55 $61.57 $64.75 5,000 
1" $89.22 $93.81 $98.66 $103.75 20,000 
1-1/2" $162.05 $170.40 $179.19 $188.46 40,000 
2" $307.68 $323.54 $340.24 $357.83 80,000 
4" $562.56 $591.56 $622.09 $654.24 150,000 
6" $744.62 $783.00 $823.41 $865.97 200,000 
8" $926.68 $974.44 $1,024.74 $1,077.70 250,000 
      
Residential and Commercial Multiple Units      
Usage 3,000 Gallons or 
less/month avg/unit $33.26 $34.97 $36.77 $38.68   
      
Agricultural       
First 60,000 Gallons $234.87 $246.97 $259.72 $273.14   
      
Industrial       
First 200,000 Gallons $744.62 $783.00 $823.41 $865.97   
      
      
USAGE CHARGE - OVER MINIMUM    
      
Residential, Commercial, and Untreated      
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.24  $2.35  $2.47  $2.47  $/1,000 gal  
> 20,000 gallons $2.00  $2.10  $2.21  $2.21  $/1,000 gal  
      
Residential and Commercial Multiple Units      
Usage below 5,000 gallons that 
is not included in base rate  $1.12  $1.18  $1.24  $1.24  $/100 gal  
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.24  $2.35  $2.47  $2.47  $/1,000 gal  
> 20,000 gallons $2.00  $2.10  $2.21  $2.21  $/1,000 gal  
      
Agricultural       
> 60,000 gallons $1.54  $1.62  $1.70  $1.70  $/1,000 gal  
      
Industrial       
> 200,000 gallons $2.00  $2.10  $2.21  $2.21  $/1,000 gal  
      
      
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:     
      

Water Supply Shortage 
Conservation 

Level 
Usage 

Surcharge     
Stage 1 20% 11%     
Stage 2 40% 21%     
Stage 3 75% 41%     
      

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 10                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.2 Typical Bills 
Water service bill calculations for a typical customer based on current rates are provided in Table 3Table 

3. 

Based on CPUD billing records, the typical single family residential customer uses 8,500 gallons per 

month and has a 5/8” meter. Given that the monthly base volume for customers with 5/8” meters is 

5,000 gallons, the typical customer pays $73.40 each month. Typical winter water usage is 4,300 gallons 

which would not exceed the base allotment of 5,000 gallons. Thus, the average winter bill equals the 

base rate of $64.75. Typical summer usage is 14,500 gallons resulting in a monthly bill of $88.22. 

 

 

Table 3: Typical Bills Under Current Rates 
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

 
Average Bill – 8,500 gallons of usage 

 Fee  # of Units Total Charges 
Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  
Usage (thousand gallons)  

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5.0 $0.00  
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 3.5 $8.65  

Total Monthly Bill   $73.40  

      

Winter Bill – 4,300 gallons of usage 

 Fee  # of Units Total Charges 
Base Rate $64.75  x 1 $64.75  
Usage (thousand gallons)  

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 4.3 $0.00  
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 0.0 $0.00  

Total Monthly Bill   $64.75  

      

Summer Bill – 14,500 gallons of usage 

 Fee  # of Units Total Charges 
Base Rate $64.75  x 1 $64.75  
Usage (thousand gallons)  

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5.0 $0.00  
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 9.5 $23.47  

Total Monthly Bill   $88.22  

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 11                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.3 Customer Base 
The water utility has about 1,900 active accounts and 150 turned off accounts, as shown in Table 4Table 

4. The 5/8” meter size makes up the majority of the District’s customer base.  

 

 

Table 4: Number of Accounts  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study  
Customer Class No. of Accts % of Total 

      
Residential and Commercial     
Meter Size     
5/8" x 3/4" 1,677 81.1% 
1" 180 8.7% 
1-1/2" 12 0.6% 
2" 31 1.5% 
4" 6 0.3% 
6" 0 0.0% 
8" 1 0.0% 
MU 40 Residential (1.5”) 1 0.0% 
      
Agricultural 1 0.0% 
      
Untreated     
5/8" x 3/4" 3 0.1% 
1" 1 0.0% 
      
Fire Hydrant Meter 6 0.3% 
      
Turned off Accounts 148 7.2% 
      
TOTAL 2,067 100.0% 
      

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 12                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.4 Service Charge Revenues 
A summary of the District’s service charge revenues over the past three fiscal years (FY) is provided in 

Table 5Table 5. Base rates have historically made up about 80% of service charge revenues with about 

20% generated from usage charges.  

 

 

Table 5: Water Service Revenue Summary 
Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study 

  FY2019/20 FY2020/21 FY2021/22 
Three-Year 

Average 

          
Base Rate $1,637,453 $1,723,111 $1,811,935  
Usage Charges $360,390 $438,908 $413,473  
Total Service Charges $1,997,843 $2,162,019 $2,225,408  
       
Base Rate 82.0% 79.7% 81.4% 81.0% 
Usage Charges 18.0% 20.3% 18.6% 19.0% 
Total Water Sales 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 
          

 

 

Estimated FY2022/23 service charge revenues are provided in Table 6Table 6. Base rates are projected 

to generate about $1.9 million in revenue (about 82%) and usage charges are projected to generate 

about $0.4 million (about 18%).   

 

 

 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 13                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 6: Projected Service Charge Revenues FY2022/23 
Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study 

BASE RATE 

Residential and Commercial Base Rate Count Fixed Revenue % of Total 

5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 1,592  $1,236,984 53.3% 
1" $103.75 140  $174,300 7.5% 
1-1/2" $188.46 5  $11,308 0.5% 
2" $357.83 25  $107,349 4.6% 
4" $654.24 5  $39,254 1.7% 
6" $865.97 0  $0 0.0% 
8" $1,077.70 1  $12,932 0.6% 

     
Residential and Commercial, 
Multiple Units $38.68 686  $318,414 13.7% 
     
Agricultural $273.14 1  $3,278 0.1% 
     
Untreated [1]         
5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 3  $1,166 0.1% 
1" $103.75 1  $623 0.0% 
     

Subtotal Fixed Revenue     $1,905,607 82.2% 
     

USAGE CHARGE 

Residential and Commercial Usage Charge 
Usage Above 

Base (gal) 
Usage Charge 

Revenue % of Total 

5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 60,548,947  $149,556 6.4% 
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 69,890,255  $154,457 6.7% 
     
Residential and Commercial, Multiple Units       
Usage below 5,000 gallons that is 
not included in base rate *per 
100 gallons $1.24 6,068,121  $75,245 3.2% 
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 11,422,291  $28,213 1.2% 
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 1,350,706  $2,985 0.1% 
     
Agricultural         
> 60,000 gallons $1.70 791,200  $1,345 0.1% 
     
Untreated         
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 100,950  $249 0.0% 
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 643,640  $1,422 0.1% 
     

Subtotal Consumption Revenue 150,816,110  $413,473 17.8% 
     

     
Total Water Sales Revenue     $2,319,080 100.0% 
     
1 - Untreated customers are only billed during portions of the year when untreated water is available.  
They are estimated to be charged 6 months out of the year. 

  



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 14                 

Water Rate Study                                   

2.5 Water Usage Statistics 
The District’s water usage over the past three years is provided in Table 7Table 7 below. Residential and 

commercial customers are responsible for the largest share of water use, representing about 86.8% of 

total use over the past three years. About 46% of water use falls within the base water allotments and 

about 54% falls above the base water allotments and is billed the volume rates. Total water use over the 

past four years is illustrated in Figure 3. As shown, the District has high summer peak usage compared to 

winter usage.  

 

 

Table 7: Water Consumption by Customer Class (Gallons)  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study  

Customer Class 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 
Three-Year 

Average 
% of Total 

          

Consumption Below Base         

Residential and Commercial 110,805,112  118,048,730  112,800,770  113,884,871  39.6% 

Multiunit Residential 14,353,240  14,525,485  14,413,628  14,430,784  5.0% 

Agricultural 609,300  540,100  509,600  553,000  0.2% 

Untreated 182,220  160,690  58,980  133,963  0.0% 

Fire Hydrant Meter 902,340  2,397,740  2,558,310  1,952,797  0.7% 

Turned Off Accounts 1,376,150  340,849  1,652,362  1,123,120  0.4% 

Subtotal Below Base 128,228,362  136,013,594  131,993,650  132,078,535  45.9% 

      
    

Consumption Above Base         

Residential and Commercial 128,808,160  147,672,391  130,439,202  135,639,918  47.2% 

Multiunit Residential 16,866,957  20,671,699  18,841,118  18,793,258  6.5% 

Agricultural 469,900  739,600  791,200  666,900  0.2% 

Untreated 53,440  140,470  744,590  312,833  0.1% 

Fire Hydrant Meter 0  0  0  0  0.0% 

Turned Off Accounts 0  0  2,642  881  0.0% 

Subtotal Above Base 146,198,457  169,224,160  150,818,752  155,413,790  54.1% 

      
    

TOTAL WATER CONSUMPTION 274,426,819 305,237,754 282,812,402 287,492,325 100.0% 

            

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 15                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 

Figure 3: Historical Districtwide Total Monthly Water Use  

 
 
 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 16                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 3: COST OF SERVICE 
 

Proposition 218 requires that utility rates be based on the reasonable cost of providing service to 

customers. This section provides an analysis of revenues and expenses to determine the total cost of 

service to be recovered via rates. The cost of service is expressed in a cash flow table that illustrates 

revenue increases needed to keep up with expenses and maintain the financial health of the enterprise.  

 

3.1 Revenues 
In FY2022/23, the District expects to collect about $2.6 million in total revenues, of which about 89% will 

be collected from water sales. Other revenue sources include fees, hydroelectric generation revenues, 

taxes, cell tower leases, and Mokelumne Hill Sanitation District (MHSD) revenue. 

 

3.2 Expenses 

3.2.1 Operating Costs 

Major expenses include salaries, benefits, administration, operations, equipment, outside services, and 

utilities. Expenses are based on the District’s forecast included in the FY2022/23 Budget, except for 

electricity expenses, which are increased by 35% in FY2022/23 per direction from the District. Salaries 

and benefit expenses are escalated according to the District’s MOU dated September 2022. 

 

3.2.2 Debt Service Costs 

The District has one outstanding debt obligation – an installment purchase agreement issued in 2021 to 

finance the Clearwell Water Tank Replacement project. Annual debt service is about $133,000 per year 

and the obligation will be paid off in 2041. The amount financed was $2.035 million consisting of $2 

million in debt proceeds and $35,000 in issuance costs. The loan agreement requires that the District 

maintain a debt service coverage ratio of 1.20. Debt coverage is calculated as:  

 

(Revenue - Operating Expenses) / (Debt Service) 

 

A debt service coverage ratio is a financial measure of an agency’s ability to repay outstanding debt. 

Most forms of debt available to utilities, such as bonds, bank loans, and SRF loans, have legal 

requirements that obligate the borrower to maintain a debt coverage ratio typically ranging from 1.1 to 

1.25. Essentially, this means that the borrower has a 10% to 25% financial buffer in excess of the debt 

payment amount. The 10% to 25% debt service buffer can be used to fund capital improvements or be 

added to reserves.  

 

In FY2022/23, the District anticipates operating at a deficit meaning that it will need to use reserves to 

cover costs and it will not have sufficient operating revenues to meet its debt coverage requirement. 

Without a rate increase, the District will fail to meet its coverage ratio of 1.20 in subsequent years due 

to insufficient operating revenues. Thus, rates and fees must be set to meet this legal requirement. The 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 17                 

Water Rate Study                                   

rates proposed in this report are projected to generate operating revenues needed to allow CPUD to 

meet and exceed its current debt coverage requirement.  

 

3.2.3 Capital Costs 

Table 8Table 8 provides the District’s capital improvement plan for 2022/23. The majority of capital 

improvement spending will be toward the Clearwell Project. Additional capital costs include new 

equipment, meter reading software, office furniture, and transmission and distribution improvements. 

Capital improvement costs in FY2023/24 are projected at $100,000 and at $350,000 per year thereafter. 

These amounts are intended to cover repairs for wear and tear on the system and any unexpected or 

emergency expenses. To fund specific future projects, the District intends to secure grant funding so as 

to not burden the ratepayers.  

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 18                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 8: Capital Outlay Fiscal Year 2022/2023  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

 
Category Budgeted 

  

Water Treatment Improvements - Clearwell Project  
Environmental 16,536  

Design (Eng., Geotech, Survey, SCADA/ELEC) 188,076  

Phase 1 ‐ Construction 16,300  

Phase 2 ‐ Construction 1,725,449  

Phase 2 ‐ SCADA Integration (TSI Inc) 125,100  

Phase 2 ‐ Construction Management 391,035  

Phase 2 ‐ 5% Unforeseen Contingency 47,834  

Total Water Treatment Improvements 2,510,329  

  

Equipment/Vehicles  
New Equipment: Backhoe Lease (5year option 
$2450/Month) 29,400  

Auction Vehicles: F350 ‐ Estimate $3500 Proceeds (3,500) 

Old Backhoe ‐ Estimate $2500 Proceeds (2,500) 

Total Equipment/Vehicles 23,400  

  

Software  
Meter Reading  
Software/Devices - Needs to be completed with CUSI 25,000  

Total Software 25,000  

  

Building Improvements  
Office Furniture 45,000  

Business Server  
Board Room Improvements 10,000  

Total Office Improvements 55,000  

  

Water Distribution Improvements  
Rich Gulch Transmission Main Replacement ‐ Design 38,293  

Unforeseen Transmission and Distribution Projects 250,000  

Total Water Distribution Improvements 300,000  

  

Total Capital Overlay $2,913,729  

    

Source: Budget FY 2023  
 

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 19                 

Water Rate Study                                   

3.3 Reserves 
The accumulation of reasonable reserves is another factor to consider when determining the cost of 

service. Utilities should maintain reserves to fund issues such as unexpected costs and emergency 

repairs, to provide cash flow in case of customer billing or revenue collection issues, and to provide 

financial stability in case of lower water sales due to drought. Fund reserves also allow the District to 

maintain its financial health and positive credit ratings, especially during emergencies. 

 

The District maintains several reserve funds, including an Operating Reserve, Capital Reserve, Self-

Insurance Reserve, Rate Stabilization Reserve, Vehicle Fleet Reserve, Equipment Reserve, Technology 

Reserve, and Designated Project/Special Use Reserve. As of July 2022, CPUD had $4.7 million in total 

available reserves. In FY2021/22, the District spent down some of its Capital, Equipment, and Designated 

Project/Special Use reserves to fund capital projects. In FY2022/23, the District anticipates spending 

down additional capital reserves and a portion of its Rate Stabilization Reserve.  

 

A summary of the District’s current reserve funds and fund targets are provided in Table 9. The District 

has an existing Reserve Policy adopted by the Board of Directors. In addition to establishing the fund 

targets provided in Table 9, this Policy outlines the specific purposes for which each reserve can be used. 

For instance, the Operating and Self-Insurance reserves can be used at any time to meet cash flow 

requirements. The Board typically authorizes use of the Capital Reserve for specific items in the Capital 

Improvement Plan during the budget process, though reserves can be used to fund unforeseen capital 

replacements if needed. The Rate Stabilization Reserve is used to supplement annual operating 

revenues if they are five percent or more below projected revenues. The Vehicle Fleet, Equipment, and 

Technology reserves are used exclusively for the purchase of vehicles, equipment, and computer 

hardware and software. Projects funded by the Designated Project/Special Use Reserve are evaluated 

on a case-by-case basis and approved by the Board. 

 

Table 9 also includes proposed reserve fund targets and modifications. The Vehicle Fleet Reserve, 

Equipment Reserve, Technology Reserve, and Designated Project/Special Use Reserve are proposed to 

be eliminated and folded into the existing Capital Reserve. The Operating Reserve target is proposed to 

be increased by the cost of the District’s annual debt payment.  

 

The Rate Stabilization Reserve is proposed to be adjusted to better align with potential revenue 

shortfalls. The current Rate Stabilization Reserve target is set as one year’s water consumption revenue. 

This is proposed to be reduced to 50% of water consumption revenue under the proposed rates. As 

customers conserve water, the District loses revenues. However, customers can only conserve so much 

and cannot lower their usage beyond a base level needed for health and sanitation. This base level is 

roughly equal to 50% of total annual consumption. It should be noted that although the Rate 

Stabilization policy target is adjusted from 100% of consumption revenues to 50%, the amount of the 

target in absolute dollars is increased. This occurs because the proposed rate schedule recovers a much 

larger portion of revenues through volume rates.  

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 20                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 

Table 9: Reserve Fund Recommendations 

Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study 

 
 

Reserve Category Current Proposed 

Operating Reserve 6 months O&M 
6 months O&M plus annual debt 
service cost 

Capital Reserve 1 year’s costs 

1 year’s costs; other options include 
accumulated depreciation and/or 
bridge funding to “float” the 
District’s finances long enough to 
secure a loan for major projects 

Self-Insurance Reserve $200,000 $200,000 or annual OPEB obligation 

Rate Stabilization Fund 
1 year’s water consumption 
revenue 

50% of annual water consumption 
revenue (roughly equal to water use 
in excess of efficient, indoor use) 

Vehicle Fleet Reserve 
Accumulate $10,000 per year 
up to $50,000 

Eliminate – include in capital reserve 

Equipment Reserve 
Accumulate $10,000 per year 
up to $100,000 

Eliminate – include in capital reserve 

Technology Reserve 
Accumulate $4,000 per year 
up to $40,000 

Eliminate – include in capital reserve 

Designated 
Project/Special Use 
Reserve 

Accumulate $20,000 per year 
up to $100,000 

Eliminate – include in capital reserve 

 

Table 9: Current Reserve Policies 
Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study 

 

Reserve Category Target 

Operating Reserve 6 months O&M 

Capital Reserve 1 year’s costs 

Self-Insurance Reserve $200,000 

Rate Stabilization Fund 1 year’s water consumption revenue 

Vehicle Fleet Reserve Accumulate $10,000 per year up to $50,000 

Equipment Reserve Accumulate $10,000 per year up to $100,000 

Technology Reserve Accumulate $4,000 per year up to $40,000 

Designated Project/Special Use Reserve Accumulate $20,000 per year up to $100,000 

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 21                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 

3.4 Water Cash Flow 
Figure 4 and Table 10Table 10 provides the water fund cash flow projection for FY2022/23 to 

FY2027/28. The cash flow is based on the FY2022/23 Budget and includes revenue increases such that 

the District covers costs and rebuilds its reserves over the next five years.  

 

In FY2022/23 the District is projected to end the year with an operating deficit meaning that operating 

expenses are greater than revenues and the District will need to use reserves to meet costs. Due to the 

deficit, the District is not expected to meet its debt coverage requirement. Moreover, due to large 

capital spending this fiscal year, the District’s total reserve balance is projected to be drawn down to 

about $1.3 million. This is less than the target of 50% of operating costs (about $1.53 million in 

FY2022/23).  

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 22                 

Water Rate Study                                   

With the proposed rate increase in FY2023/24, the District’s financial health is projected to improve 

significantly. The operating deficit is reversed, the District is projected to exceed its debt coverage 

requirement, and the District can fund $100,000 in capital improvements. With further proposed rates 

increases, capital funding is increased to $350,000 in future years, and the District rebuilds its reserves.  

 

 

Figure 4: Cash Flows  

 
  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 23                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 Table 10: Cash Flow Projection  

 Calaveras Public Utility District       

 Water Rate Study       
    Budget Years 1 -5: Proposition 218 

    2022/23 FY2023/24 FY2024/25 FY2025/26 FY2026/27 FY2027/28 
        

1 Overall Revenue Adjustment    33.0% 14.0% 5.0% 5.0% 5.0% 

2 Rate Increase Effective   Jul 1, 2023 Jul 1, 2024 Jul 1, 2025 Jul 1, 2026 Jul 1, 2027 
3        
4        
5 BEGINNING FUND BALANCE [1] $4,800,700  $1,300,800  $1,306,000  $1,399,200  $1,568,400  $1,828,600  
6        
7 REVENUES          

8 Water Service Charges 2,319,100 3,084,000 3,516,000 3,692,000 3,877,000 4,071,000 

9 Fees 37,900 50,000 57,000 60,000 63,000 66,000 

10 Hydro Revenue 76,400 102,000 116,000 122,000 128,000 134,000 

11 Taxes 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 120,000 

12 Interest (investments) 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 7,000 

13 Cell Tower Leases 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 29,000 

14 MHSD Revenue 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 18,200 

15 Grant Revenue 0 0 0 0 0 0 

16 Other Income 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 5,000 

17 Total Revenue 2,612,600 3,415,200 3,868,200 4,053,200 4,247,200 4,450,200 
18        
19 EXPENSES          

20 Operational Expenses         

21 Salaries [2] 999,600 1,040,000 1,082,000 1,120,000 1,154,000 1,189,000 

22 Benefits [2] 881,500 917,000 954,000 987,000 1,017,000 1,048,000 

23 Conferences, Meetings, & Training 36,000 37,000 38,000 39,000 40,000 41,000 

24 Administration Expenses 297,100 306,000 315,000 325,000 334,000 344,000 

25 Operations Expense 313,300 323,000 332,000 342,000 353,000 364,000 

26 Outside Services 206,100 212,000 219,000 225,000 232,000 239,000 

27 Equipment Rent, Taxes, & Utilities 332,200 342,000 352,000 363,000 374,000 385,000 

28 Subtotal O&M 3,065,800 3,177,000 3,292,000 3,401,000 3,504,000 3,610,000 
29        
30 Net Operating Revenue (453,200) 238,200  576,200  652,200  743,200  840,200  
31   

     

32 Debt Service 133,000 133,000 133,000 133,000 133,000 133,000 

33        

34 Capital Projects 2,913,700 100,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 350,000 
35   

     

36 Total Expenses  6,112,500 3,410,000 3,775,000 3,884,000 3,987,000 4,093,000 
37   

     

38 Total Net Revenues  (3,499,900) 5,200  93,200  169,200  260,200  357,200  
39   

     

40 ENDING FUND BALANCE 1,300,800  1,306,000  1,399,200  1,568,400  1,828,600  2,185,800  
41        

 

  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 24                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 

  Budget Years 1 -5: Proposition 218 

  2022/23 FY2023/24 FY2024/25 FY2025/26 FY2026/27 FY2027/28 

        
42        
43 Reserve Fund Targets [3]         

44 Operating Reserves 
1,533,000  1,589,000 

1,722,000  
1,646,000 
1,779,000  

1,701,000 
1,834,000  

1,752,000 
1,885,000  

1,805,000 
1,938,000  

45 Capital Reserves 
0  350,000 

100,000  
375,000 
350,000  

400,000 
350,000  

450,000 
350,000  

500,000 
350,000  

46 Self‐Insurance Reserves 
200,000  200,000 

200,000  
200,000 
200,000  

200,000 
200,000  

200,000 
200,000  

200,000 
200,000  

47 Rate Stabilization Reserve 
547,000  657,000 

610,000  
716,000 
695,000  

748,000 
730,000  

778,000 
766,000  

809,000 
805,000  

48 Vehicle Fleet Reserve 10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  

49 Equipment Reserve 10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  10,000  

50 Technology Reserve 4,000  4,000  4,000  4,000  4,000  4,000  

51 

Designated Project/Special Use 
Reserve 20,000  20,000  20,000  20,000  20,000  20,000  

52 Total Water Reserve Target 
2,324,000  2,840,000 

2,632,000  
2,981,000 
3,024,000  

3,093,000 
3,114,000  

3,224,000 
3,201,000  

3,358,000 
3,293,000  

53 Total Reserve Target Met? no no no no no no 
54        

55 

Debt Service Coverage Target - 
1.20x [4] -3.41 1.79 4.33 4.90 5.59 6.32 

56 Target Met? no yes yes yes yes yes 
57        

 1 - Source: Beginning Net Position from FY 2022-2023 Operational Budget 

 

2 - Salaries and Benefits expenses are escalated according to the District's MOU dated September 2022 rather than the District's 
Operating Budget Forecast 

 3 - FY2022/23 shows the District’s budgeted reserve targets; FY2023/24 and beyond show the proposed targets 

 4 - Net Operating Revenue divided by Total Debt Service 

 

 

 

 
 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 25                 

Water Rate Study                                   

SECTION 4: RATE DESIGN 
 

The prior section determined the total cost of providing service to customers. In this section, the cost of 

service is assigned to fixed and volume rates to fairly recover costs based on how customers use the 

system. 

 

4.1 Rate Design Considerations 
The proposed rate structure described in this report eliminates the water allotment included in the 

monthly fixed fees and eliminates tiered rates such that all water use is billed a uniform rate per unit. 

The goal of updating the water rate structure is to simplify the existing rate categories and promote 

equity among customers, particularly those that use lower volumes of water. Currently, the fixed fee per 

month includes a water allotment. For customers with a 5/8” meter, the base allotment is 5,000 gallons 

per month. However, the average customer only uses approximately 4,300 gallons per month during the 

winter months, meaning that the average customer is paying for water which they are not using 

throughout the winter. By eliminating the base allotment, customers would only pay for water they 

actually used and would have greater control over their bills. Additionally, per new State mandated 

water conservation regulations, non-billed water including water allotments may be subject to audits in 

the future. 

 

Untreated water customers will continue to be billed the same fixed fees as treated water customers 

according to meter size. The untreated volume rate will continue to be calculated as the treated rate 

discounted for treatment expenses which do not apply to untreated (raw) water customers. 

 

4.2 Cost Allocation Methodology 
The American Water Works Association (AWWA) recommends methods to classify costs among various 

customers. The base-extra capacity method was selected for this study. Costs are allocated to the 

following categories: (a) base, (b) extra, and (c) metering and customer service. The base category is 

intended to encompass expenses related to providing water under average conditions (“base”). The 

extra category includes costs related to providing water above the system average (i.e. related to peak 

or “extra” usage). The metering and customer service category encompasses costs related to overhead, 

administration, meter repairs, debt services, and the annual capital improvement cost.  

 

FY2023/24 was selected as the test year for cost allocation, see Table 11Table 11. The base and extra 

categories are combined into one category for cost allocation purposes and represent about 40% of 

total costs. The District intends to recover base and extra costs through uniform volume rates. This is in 

contrast to the District’s current rate plan, which recovers slightly less than 20% of rate revenues from 

volume rates. As shown in Table 11Table 11, some of the base & extra category costs are noted as 

treatment expenses such as lab and sampling costs, treatment electric, chemicals, etc. These expenses 

will be excluded from the untreated water rate. The metering and customer service category makes up 

about 60% of total costs that will be recovered through base rates. The allocation percentages 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 26                 

Water Rate Study                                   

determined in Table 11Table 11 are multiplied by the cost of service determined via the cash flow in 

Table 10Table 10 to calculate the total amount of revenue to be recovered from fixed and volume rates. 

 

 

Table 11: Cost Allocation  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

     

Budgeted Expenses 
Budget 

2023/24 
Base & Extra 
(usage rate) 

 

Meters & 
Customer 

Service 
(meter fee) 

Notes 

          
Operating Expenses         
Salaries 1,040,000 33.33%  66.67% 33/67 
Benefits 917,000 33.33%  66.67% 33/67 
Conferences, Meetings, & Training 37,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
Administration Expenses 306,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
Operations Expense         

Treatment Expenses 189,666 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Chemicals 14,600 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Meter Repairs 32,445 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
All Other Operations Expense 86,288 100.00%  0.00% Supply 

Outside Services         
Lab & Sampling 9,666 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Engineering & Dam Consultants 59,225 100.00%  0.00% Supply 
All Other Outside Services 143,109 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 

Equipment Rent, Taxes, & Utilities        
Treatment Electric 22,801 100.00%  0.00% Supply (Treatment) 
Office Electric 5,587 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
All Other Expenses 313,612 100.00%  0.00% Supply 

Subtotal O&M 3,177,000 1,348,000  1,829,000   
          

Non-Operating Expenses         
Debt Service 133,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 
Capital Projects  100,000 0.00%  100.00% Meters and services 

Subtotal Non-Operating 233,000 0  233,000   
          
Total Expenses (for Allocation) 3,410,000 1,348,000  2,062,000   
Proposed Cost Allocation % 100.00% 39.54%  60.46%   
            



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 27                 

Water Rate Study                                   

4.3 Meter Equivalents 
For the metering and customer service revenue requirement, AWWA guidelines recommend using 

meter equivalents to assign capacity-related costs to larger meter sizes. Utility infrastructure is typically 

designed to meet peak demands associated with the maximum flow rate of each meter. The flow of 

larger meters compared to the base meter size of 5/8” determines the meter equivalents, see Table 

12Table 12. 

 

 

Table 12: Number of Meter Equivalents  
Calaveras Public Utility District  
Water Rate Study 

   

Meter Size 
No. of 
Meters 

Flow Rate 
(gpm) 

Meter 
Ratio 

No. of Meter 
Equivalents 

5/8" x 3/4" 1,680 30 1.00  1,680 
1" 181 50 1.67  302 
1-1/2" 13 100 3.33  43 
2" 31 160 5.33  165 
4" 6 500 16.67  100 
6" 0 1,000 33.33  0 
8" 1 1,600 53.33  53 
TOTAL [1] 1,912   2,344 

gpm – gallons per minute 
1 - Excludes turned off accounts and fire hydrant meters 

 

 

4.4 Rate Calculation 
CPUD’s FY2023/24 rate calculation is provided in Table 13. The total cost to be recovered from the base 

& extra category from volume rates is $1.22 million based on the FY2023/24 revenue requirement of 

$3,084,000 multiplied by the allocation percentage of 39.54%. $237,000 is attributable to treatment 

expenses and about $983,000 is attributable to other supply costs. Treatment expenses are divided by 

estimated treated water consumption to calculate a rate of $0.84 per thousand gallons. All other supply 

costs are divided by total water consumption (treated and raw water usage) to calculate a rate of $3.48 

per thousand gallons. The total treated water rate is $4.32 per thousand gallons which is made up of the 

treatment rate plus the supply rate.  

 

The meters & customer service fee is calculated as the total FY2023/24 revenue requirement of 

$3,084,000 multiplied by the allocation percentage of 60.46% and divided by the number of meter 

equivalents. This cost is further subdivided between debt service expenses and non-debt service 

expenses. The cost per meter equivalent is $66.30 (debt service fee of $4.73 plus the meter fee of 

$61.57).The cost per meter equivalent is $66.30. In Table 14, the cost per meter equivalent is multiplied 

by the number of equivalents for larger meters to determine the full schedule of monthly base rates. As 

described, no water use is proposed to be included in the base rate.  



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 28                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 

 

 

 

Table 13: FY2023/24 Rate Calculation  

Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study     

  

Total 

Base & Extra (usage rate) 
Meters & 

Customer Service 
(Base Rate) 

  
Treatment 
Expenses 

All Other 
Supply 

Expenses 

        
2023/24 Revenue Req. $3,084,000 $236,733 $982,583 $1,864,684 
Cost Allocation % 100.00% 7.68% 31.86% 60.46% 
         
2023/24 Units of Service 
(estimated) 
  

  280,981 282,281  2,344 

  
Usage (thousand gallons) # of Meter 

Equivalents 
         
2023/24 Rate   $0.84 $3.48 $66.30 
    $/thousand gal $/ thousand gal $/meter equivalent 
         

Table 13: FY2023/24 Rate Calculation   

Calaveras Public Utility District 
Water Rate Study      

  
Total 

Base & Extra (usage rate) 
Meters & Customer 

Service 

  

Treatment 
Expenses 

All Other 
Supply 

Expenses 

Debt 
Service 

Meter Fee 

         
2023/24 Revenue Req. $3,084,000 $236,733 $982,583 $133,000 $1,731,697 
Cost Allocation % 100.00% 7.68% 31.86% 4.31% 56.15% 
          
2023/24 Units of Service 
(estimated) 
  

  280,981 282,281  2,344 2,344 

  
Usage (thousand gallons) # of Meter 

Equivalents 
# of Meter 
Equivalents 

          
2023/24 Rate   $0.84 $3.48 $4.73 $61.57 

    $/thousand gal $/ thousand gal 
$/meter 

equivalent 
$/meter 

equivalent 
          

 

 

Table 14: FY2023/24 Base Rates for Larger Meter Sizes 

Calaveras Public Utility District 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 29                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Water Rate Study 
 

Meter Size Ratio 
Monthly  

Base Rate 

5/8" x 3/4"  1.00  $66.30 
1"  1.67  $110.50 
1-1/2" 3.33  $221.00 
2" 5.33  $353.60 
4" 16.67  $1,105.00 
6" 33.33  $2,210.00 
8" 53.33  $3,536.00 
    

 

Table 14: FY2023/24 Base Rates for Larger Meter Sizes 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study 
  
Meter Size Ratio Debt Service Meter Fee 

5/8" x 3/4"  1.00  $4.73 $61.57 
1"  1.67  $7.88 $102.62 
1-1/2" 3.33  $15.77 $205.23 
2" 5.33  $25.23 $328.37 
4" 16.67  $78.83 $1,026.17 
6" 33.33  $157.67 $2,052.33 
8" 53.33  $252.27 $3,283.73 
     

 

4.5 Drought Rates 
Table 15Table 15 provides the cost allocation for the base & extra category under various water cutback 

scenarios. The 0% column is the volume rate allocation under normal water year conditions (i.e. 0% 

cutback) and matches the allocation in Table 11Table 11. Columns noted as 20% to 50% represent 

potential water shortage scenarios. During drought conditions, water consumption will decrease and 

some of the District’s expenses will also decrease proportionally. These expenses are highlighted grey in 

Table 15Table 15. Other expenses such as staffing, rental of equipment, and safety supplies for the 

operators will remain the same. The bottom row of Table 15Table 15 provides percentages which 

illustrate how supply related expenses are expected to vary under the cutback scenarios. Under a 50% 

water cutback, non-treatment base & extra costs are expected to total about 85.9% of the normal water 

year costs.  

 

Table 15: Base & Extra Cost Allocation Under Various Water Cutback Scenarios 

Calaveras Public Utility District 

Water Rate Study 
      

Budgeted Expenses 
Budget 

FY2023/24 

Base & Extra Costs Under Water Cutback Scenarios 

0% 20% 30% 40% 50% 

Operating Expenses          



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 30                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Salaries 1,040,000 346,667  346,667  346,667  346,667  346,667  
Benefits 917,000 305,667  305,667  305,667  305,667  305,667  
Conferences, Meetings, & Training 37,000 0  0  0  0  0  
Administration Expenses 306,000 0  0  0  0  0  
Operations Expense   0  0  0  0  0  

Treatment Expenses 189,666 189,666  151,733  132,766  113,800  94,833  
Chemicals 14,600 14,600  11,680  10,220  8,760  7,300  
Meter Repairs 32,445 0  0  0  0  0  
All Other Operations Expense 86,288 86,288  86,288  86,288  86,288  86,288  

Outside Services 0  0  0  0  0  0  
Lab & Sampling 9,666 9,666  9,666  9,666  9,666  9,666  
Engineering & Dam Consultants 59,225 59,225  59,225  59,225  59,225  59,225  
All Other Outside Services 143,109 0  0  0  0  0  

Equipment Rent, Taxes, & Utilities   0  0  0  0  0  
Treatment Electric 22,801 22,801  18,241  15,961  13,681  11,400  
Office Electric 5,587 0  0  0  0  0  
All Other Expenses 313,612 313,612  250,889  219,528  188,167  156,806  

Subtotal O&M 3,177,000 1,348,192 1,240,056 1,185,988 1,131,920 1,077,852 
           

Non-Operating Expenses          
Debt Service 133,000 0  0  0  0  0  
Capital Projects 100,000 0  0  0  0  0  

Subtotal Non-Operating 233,000 0 0 0 0 0 
           
Total Expenses  3,410,000 1,348,192 1,240,056 1,185,988 1,131,920 1,077,852 
           
Treatment Expenses   236,733 191,320 168,613 145,906 123,199 
           
All Other Supply Expenses   1,111,458 1,048,736 1,017,375 986,014 954,653 
Ratio of All Other Supply Expenses 
relative to Normal Water Year     

94.36% 91.54% 88.71% 85.89% 

 

 

Table 16Table 16 provides drought rate calculations. Treatment expenses under each cutback scenario 

are divided by treated water usage. For all other supply costs, the ratios shown at the bottom of Table 

15Table 15 are multiplied by the supply revenue requirement shown in Table 13 ($983,000). This 

determines the revenue requirement which is then divided by estimated total usage.  

 

 

 

Table 16: FY2023/24 Drought Rates  

Calaveras Public Utility District    
Water Rate Study 

   

Category 
Treatment 
Expenses 

All Other 
Supply 

Expenses 
Total 

20% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $191,320 $927,121 $1,118,440 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                  Page 31                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Units of Service (thousand gal) 224,784  225,825    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.85 $4.11 $4.96 

      

30% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $168,613 $899,396 $1,068,009 

Units of Service (thousand gal) 196,686  197,597    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.86 $4.55 $5.41 

      

40% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $145,906 $871,672 $1,017,578 

Units of Service (thousand gal) 168,588  169,369    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.87 $5.15 $6.02 

      

50% Water Cutback 

Revenue Requirement $123,199 $843,948 $967,147 

Units of Service (thousand gal) 140,490  141,141    

Unit Cost ($/thousand gal) $0.88 $5.98 $6.86 

        

 

 

4.6 Proposed 5-Year Rate Plan 
The District’s 5-year rate plan is provided in Table 17. The rates are proposed to be effective July 1 of 

each year beginning in 2023 to correspond to the District’s fiscal year. The FY2023/24 rates are 

calculated in the preceding tables. Rates for FY2024/25 and beyond are calculated as the FY2023/24 

rates increased by the percents shown in the cash flow in Table 10Table 10. FY2024/25 rates are 

increased by 14% and the rates for FY2025/26 through FY2027/28 are increased by 5% annually. It 

should be noted that the total base rates (debt service fee plus meter fee) are increased by the 

percentages shown in Table 10Table 10 while the debt service portion is proposed to remain the same 

over the 5-year rate study period. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                                                                                           Page 32                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 17: Current and Proposed Water Rates 

 

Calaveras Public Utility District       

Water Rate Study 
  

      

CURRENT PROPOSED 

  Usage Covered 
by Minimum 

(Gallons) 

 
July 1, 
2023 

July 1, 
2024 

July 1, 
2025 

July 1, 
2026 

July 1,  
2027 

BASE RATE  BASE RATE       
Meter Size  Meter Size - All customers; no water use is included in the base rate 
5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 5,000 5/8" x 3/4" $66.30  $75.58  $79.36  $83.33  $87.50  
1" $103.75 20,000 1" $110.50  $125.97  $132.27  $138.88  $145.82  
1-1/2" $188.46 40,000 1-1/2" $221.00  $251.94  $264.54  $277.77  $291.66  
2" $357.83 80,000 2" $353.60  $403.10  $423.26  $444.42  $466.64  
4" $654.24 150,000 4" $1,105.00  $1,259.70  $1,322.69  $1,388.82  $1,458.26  
6" $865.97 200,000 6" $2,210.00  $2,519.40  $2,645.37  $2,777.64  $2,916.52  
8" $1,077.70 250,000 8" $3,536.00  $4,031.04  $4,232.59  $4,444.22  $4,666.43  
         

Residential and Commercial Multiple Units VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Normal Water Year 
Usage 3,000 Gallons or 
less/month avg/unit 

$38.68 3,000 Treated Water $4.32  $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  $5.70  

Agricultural $273.14 60,000  Agricultural/Untreated $3.48  $3.97  $4.17  $4.38  $4.60  
Industrial $865.97 200,000        
   VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Drought Conditions 

VOLUME RATES   20% Cutback      
Treated Water Use over Minimum Treated water  $4.96  $5.65  $5.93  $6.23  $6.54  

3,001 to 5,000 gallons $1.24 $/hundred gal.  Agricultural water $4.11  $4.69  $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  
5,001 to 20,000 gallons $2.47 $/thousand gal. 30% Cutback      
> 20,000 gallons $2.21 $/thousand gal. Treated water  $5.41  $6.17  $6.48  $6.80  $7.14  

Agricultural   Agricultural water $4.55  $5.19  $5.45  $5.72  $6.01  
> 60,000 gallons $1.70 $/thousand gal. 40% Cutback      

    Treated water  $6.02  $6.86  $7.20  $7.56  $7.94  
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:  Agricultural water $5.15  $5.87  $6.16  $6.47  $6.79  

 Conservation 
Level 

 50% Cutback      
Water Supply Shortage Usage Surcharge Treated water  $6.86  $7.82  $8.21  $8.62  $9.05  

Stage 1 20% 11% Agricultural water $5.98  $6.82  $7.16  $7.52  $7.90  
Stage 2 40% 21%       
Stage 3 75% 41%       



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                                                                                           Page 33                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Table 17: Current and Proposed Water Rates  

Calaveras Public Utility District       

Water Rate Study       

CURRENT PROPOSED 

 Usage 
Covered by 
Minimum 
(Gallons) 

 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 

Meter Size 
BASE RATE  

Meter Size - All customers; no water use is included in the base rate   
BASE 
RATE 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt  
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 5,000 5/8" x 3/4" $61.57  $4.73  $70.85  $4.73  $74.63  $4.73  $78.60  $4.73  $82.77  $4.73  
1" $103.75 20,000 1" $102.62  $7.88  $118.09  $7.88  $124.39  $7.88  $131.00  $7.88  $137.94  $7.88  
1-1/2" $188.46 40,000 1-1/2" $205.23  $15.77  $236.17  $15.77  $248.77  $15.77  $262.00  $15.77  $275.89  $15.77  
2" $357.83 80,000 2" $328.37  $25.23  $377.87  $25.23  $398.03  $25.23  $419.19  $25.23  $441.41  $25.23  
4" $654.24 150,000 4" $1,026.17  $78.83  $1,180.87  $78.83  $1,243.86  $78.83  $1,309.99  $78.83  $1,379.43  $78.83  
6" $865.97 200,000 6" $2,052.33  $157.67  $2,361.73  $157.67  $2,487.70  $157.67  $2,619.97  $157.67  $2,758.85  $157.67  
8" $1,077.70 250,000 8" $3,283.73  $252.27  $3,778.77  $252.27  $3,980.32  $252.27  $4,191.95  $252.27  $4,414.16  $252.27  

         

Multi Unit* $38.68 3,000 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 
Agricultural $273.14 60,000 VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Normal Water Year   
Industrial $865.97 200,000 Treated Water $4.32  $4.92 $5.17  $5.43  $5.70  
*Multi unit usage 3,000 gallons or less/month 
avg/unit 

Agricultural/Untreated $3.48  $3.97 $4.17  $4.38  $4.60  
     

VOLUME RATES   VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Drought Conditions   
Treated Water (gallons) - Use over Minimum 20% Cutback      

3,001 to 5,000  $1.24 $/hundred gal.  Treated water  $4.96  $5.65 $5.93  $6.23  $6.54  
5,001 to 20,000 $2.47 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.11  $4.69 $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  

> 20,000 $2.21 $/thousand gal. 30% Cutback      
Agricultural   Treated water  $5.41  $6.17 $6.48  $6.80  $7.14  
> 60,000 $1.70 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.55  $5.19 $5.45  $5.72  $6.01  

    40% Cutback      
DROUGHT MANAGEMENT PLAN SURCHARGE:  Treated water  $6.02  $6.86 $7.20  $7.56  $7.94  
Water Supply 
Shortage 

Conservation 
Level 

Usage 
Surcharge 

Agricultural water $5.15  $5.87 $6.16  $6.47  $6.79  
50% Cutback      

Stage 1 20% 11% Treated water  $6.86  $7.82 $8.21  $8.62  $9.05  
Stage 2 40% 21% Agricultural water $5.98  $6.82 $7.16  $7.52  $7.90  
Stage 3 75% 41%       
        



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 34                 

Water Rate Study                                   

4.7 Bill Impacts 
Table 18 provides impacts to a typical customer’s bill based on average monthly usage, winter usage, 

and summer usage under the proposed rates. The typical summer bill is proposed to increase to a 

greater extent than the typical winter bill which reflects a higher percent of District revenue recovered 

through volume rates.  

 

Table 18: Comparison of Current and Proposed Single Family Residential Bills 

Calaveras Public Utility District        
Water Rate Study 

       

Average Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Meter Fee $61.57  x 1 $61.57   
     Debt Fee $4.73 x 1 $4.73  
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage  

(all use) 
$4.32  x 8.5 $36.72   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 3.5 $8.65         

Total Monthly Bill   $73.40  Total Monthly Bill   $103.02  40% 

            
Winter Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Meter Fee $61.57  x 1 $61.57   
     Debt Fee $4.73 x 1 $4.73  
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage  

(all use) 
$4.32  x 4.3 $18.58   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 4.3 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 0 $0.00         

Total Monthly Bill   $64.75  Total Monthly Bill   $84.88  31% 

            
Summer Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Meter Fee $61.57  x 1 $61.57   
     Debt Fee $4.73 x 1 $4.73  
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage 

(all use)  
$4.32  x 14.5 $62.64   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 9.5 $23.47         

Total Monthly Bill   $88.22  Total Monthly Bill   $128.94  46% 

 

 

Table 18: Comparison of Current and Proposed Single Family Residential Bills 

Calaveras Public Utility District        
Water Rate Study 

       
Average Bill Current Proposed 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 35                 

Water Rate Study                                   

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Base Rate $66.30  x 1 $66.30   
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage  

(all use) 
$4.32  x 8.5 $36.72   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 3.5 $8.65         

Total Monthly Bill   $73.40  Total Monthly Bill   $103.02  40% 

            
Winter Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate  $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Base Rate $66.30  x 1 $66.30   
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage  

(all use) 
$4.32  x 4.3 $18.58   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 4.3 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 0 $0.00         

Total Monthly Bill   $64.75  Total Monthly Bill   $84.88  31% 

            
Summer Bill Current Proposed 

 Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges  Fee  

# of 
Units 

Total 
Charges 

% 
Increase 

Base Rate $64.75  x 1 $64.75  Base Rate $66.30  x 1 $66.30   
Usage (thousand gallons) Usage 

(all use)  
$4.32  x 14.5 $62.64   

0 to 5 units $0.00  x 5 $0.00       
5 to 20 units $2.47  x 9.5 $23.47         

Total Monthly Bill   $88.22  Total Monthly Bill   $128.94  46% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5 provides the distribution of bill impacts under the proposed rates for single family customers 

served on 5/8” meters. About 1/3 of monthly bills will receive increases of $15 or less.  

 

 



 

Calaveras Public Utility District                                                 Page 36                 

Water Rate Study                                   

Figure 5: Bill Impact Analysis for Single Family Customers with 5/8” Meters  

 



1 
 

Proposition 218 Notification 
 

 
 
 

NAME 
Street Address 

City, State Zip Code 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING ON PROPOSED WATER RATE INCREASES 
Hearing Date & Time: June 8, 2023 at 7 PM  

Hearing Location: 
San Andreas Town Hall 

24 Church Hill Rd, San Andreas, CA 95249 
 

 
Dear Customers, 
You are receiving this notice because you are either a water user or you own property receiving services of the 
Calaveras Public Utility District (CPUD or District). The CPUD Board of Directors will hold a public majority protest 
hearing on June 8, 2023, at 7 pm at 24 Church Hill Rd, San Andreas, CA 95249 to consider water rate 
adjustments for the next five years, effective July 1, 2023. At the hearing, the Board will review the amount of 
the proposed rates as well as the methodology used to calculate the rates. If the proposed maximum rates are 
adopted, the District may collect rates at or below the proposed maximum as needed to meet the District’s 
financial needs.  
 
In compliance with article XIII D of the California Constitution, which was added to the Constitution pursuant to 
Proposition 218, this notice provides you with information regarding the services provided by CPUD, the reasons 
for the changes in the water service rates, and the methods by which you can protest this rate increase if you so 
desire.  
 
Estimado cliente, 
Usted está recibiendo este aviso porque es un usuario de agua o es dueño de una propiedad que recibe servicios 
del Calaveras Public Utility District (CPUD). La Junta Directiva del CPUD llevará a cabo una audiencia pública de 
protesta mayoritaria el 8 de junio de 2023, a las 7 p.m. en 24 Church Hill Rd, San Andreas, CA 95249 para 
considerar unos ajustes de las tarifas del agua para los próximos cinco años, a partir del 1 de julio de 2023. En la 
audiencia, el CPUD va a revisar la suma de las tarifas propuestas tanto como la metodología que se usa para 
calcular las tarifas. Si se adoptan las tarifas máximas propuestas, el CPUD estará autorizado a imponer tarifas hasta 
el máximo propuesto según sea necesario para satisfacer las necesidades financieras del CPUD.  
 
En cumplimiento del artículo XIII D de la Constitución de California, que se agregó a la Constitución de conformidad 
con la Proposición 218, este aviso le proporciona información sobre los servicios que presta CPUD, las razones de 

 



2 
 

los cambios en las tarifas de agua y los métodos mediante los cuales puede protestar contra este aumento de 
tarifas si así lo desea.  
 
Una versión completa de este aviso en español se puede encontrar en el sitio web del CPUD. 
 
Water System Overview 
CPUD serves a population of roughly 6,350 people. The utility relies on rate revenues to fund safe and reliable 
water service. The proposed rates are based on a comprehensive cost of service study to ensure that water rates 
cover the costs of increasing operating and maintenance expenses, debt service payments, capital projects, and 
emergency reserves. The study is available for review on the District’s website.  
 
In recent years, the District has issued debt as well as invested a portion of its reserves into replacing the Clearwell 
Tank at the Jeff Davis Water Treatment Plant.  The Clearwell project is an important component of the District’s 
drinking water purification system. The Clearwell project is the final stage in the water treatment process, 
following the filtration and disinfection stages. The filtered water is held in a storage basin (clearwell) to allow the 
disinfectant to inactivate any remaining pathogens.  The existing clearwell is 50+ years old, has no baffles for 
disinfection, has pitting resulting in metal loss on the floor, and has failed roof beams which increases the 
likelihood of catastrophic failure.  The new clearwell will provide a triple baffled tank to maximize the disinfection 
contact time and improve the contact time provided in the treatment process.  The new clearwell also includes 
seismic protection which increases the resilience of the system to natural disasters.  The new clearwell is a 
commitment to the people in the community that the District is investing in the infrastructure to ensure water 
availability for domestic, commercial/industrial, and fire fighting needs.  
 
Why are rate adjustments needed? 
Revenues generated by CPUD’s current rates do not cover costs. The District is operating at a deficit meaning 
there are insufficient revenues to fund operating expenses such as staffing, maintenance, equipment, and 
chemicals. Moreover, in 2021 the District issued debt to partially fund the Clearwell project. The District is 
obligated to raise rates to pay off the debt. The District is also partially funding the project by utilizing existing 
reserves. The proposed rate plan proposes to rebuild reserves over time. Without adequate revenues, the District 
will be unable to provide safe and reliable drinking water.  
 
What are the proposed rate changes? 
The proposed rate changes are intended to update the District’s rate structure and bring rates more into 
alignment with American Water Works Association methodologies and recommendations. The current rate 
structure includes a base allotment of water in the fixed monthly fee plus volume rates for consumption over the 
base. The amount of water included in the base allotment varies with meter size such that larger meters are 
provided with more water in their base allotments. Water usage over the base is charged volume rates using a 
tiered structure. Due to State water conservation requirements and Senate Bill (SB) 555, this type of rate structure 
is no longer commonly used. Under SB 555, base water allotments could be considered non-revenue water and 
subject to auditing and/or other regulatory measures by the state.  
 
Table 1 identifies current rates as well as proposed rates for the five-year period beginning in 2023 through 2027. 
The base allotments are proposed to be eliminated such that the meter fees have no water usage included. The 
fixed monthly fees consist of a debt service charge for the Clearwell project and a meter charge. The tiered rate 
structure is proposed to be eliminated. All treated usage is proposed to be charged a single rate and all untreated 
usage is proposed to be charged a single rate for all levels of consumption. The proposed rates also include a 
schedule of drought rates, which would only be implemented during a water shortage emergency. Under drought 
conditions, the base rate would remain the same, but volume rates would increase according to the level of water 
cutback. It is proposed that new rates become effective July 1 of each year for the next five years. 
 
 
 



3 
 

How do I file a protest or participate in the public hearing? 
The provisions of Proposition 218 provide that certain types of “Property Related Fees” such as water rates are 
subject to a “majority protest” process. Under the majority protest process, any property owner or customer of 
record may submit a written protest for the proposed increases; provided, however, that only one protest will be 
counted per identified parcel. If protests are filed on behalf of a majority of the parcels subject to the rates, the 
District cannot adopt the proposed rates. 
 
Every written protest MUST include ALL of the following to be counted: 

1. A statement against the proposed water rates; 
2. Name of the recorded owner or customer of record who is submitting the protest; 
3. Identification of assessor’s parcel number, street address, or account number of the parcel with respect 

to which the protest is made; and 
4. Original signature and legibly printed name of the record owner or customer of record who is submitting 

the protest. 
 
Written protests may be submitted by: 

1. Mail to the District, P.O. Box 666, San Andreas, CA 95249; or 
2. In-person delivery to 506 W. St. Charles St., San Andreas, CA 95249 during published business hours; or 
3. In-person at the public hearing, prior to the conclusion of the public hearing. 

 
Regardless of how the written protest is submitted, it must be received by the District prior to the conclusion of 
the public comment portion of the Public Hearing on June 8, 2023. (Postmark dates will not be accepted.) Any 
protest submitted via e‐mail or other electronic means will not be accepted. Please identify on the front of the 
envelope for any written protest, whether mailed or submitted in person to the District, that the enclosed protest 
is for the Public Hearing on the Proposed Water Rate Increases. Oral comments at the Public Hearing will not qualify 
as formal protests unless accompanied by a written protest. 
 
The District will hold the Public Hearing on June 8, 2023, at 7 pm. The Board of Directors will review the amount of 
the rates as well as the methodology for calculating the proposed rates. At the conclusion of the hearing, protests 
will be counted and validated. If protests are filed on behalf of a majority of the parcels subject to the rates before 
the end of the Public Hearing, the District cannot adopt the proposed rates. If a majority of the parcels do not protest 
the proposed increase, the District has the authority to adopt the proposed rates. The first year rate change, if 
enacted, will go into effect on or after July 1, 2023. 
 
Additionally, pursuant to California Government Code 53759, there is a 120-day statute of limitations for 
challenging any new, increased, or extended fee, adopted, modified, or amended after January 1, 2022. 
 
 
 



4 
 

Table 1 
Current and Proposed Monthly Water Rates 

 
CURRENT PROPOSED 

 Usage 
Covered by 
Minimum 
(Gallons) 

 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 

Meter Size 
BASE RATE  

Meter Size - All customers; no water use is included in the base rate   
BASE 
RATE 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt  
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter  
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

Meter 
Fee 

+Debt 
Fee 

5/8" x 3/4" $64.75 5,000 5/8" x 3/4" $61.57  $4.73  $70.85  $4.73  $74.63  $4.73  $78.60  $4.73  $82.77  $4.73  
1" $103.75 20,000 1" $102.62  $7.88  $118.09  $7.88  $124.39  $7.88  $131.00  $7.88  $137.94  $7.88  
1-1/2" $188.46 40,000 1-1/2" $205.23  $15.77  $236.17  $15.77  $248.77  $15.77  $262.00  $15.77  $275.89  $15.77  
2" $357.83 80,000 2" $328.37  $25.23  $377.87  $25.23  $398.03  $25.23  $419.19  $25.23  $441.41  $25.23  
4" $654.24 150,000 4" $1,026.17  $78.83  $1,180.87  $78.83  $1,243.86  $78.83  $1,309.99  $78.83  $1,379.43  $78.83  
6" $865.97 200,000 6" $2,052.33  $157.67  $2,361.73  $157.67  $2,487.70  $157.67  $2,619.97  $157.67  $2,758.85  $157.67  
8" $1,077.70 250,000 8" $3,283.73  $252.27  $3,778.77  $252.27  $3,980.32  $252.27  $4,191.95  $252.27  $4,414.16  $252.27  

         

Multi Unit* $38.68 3,000 July 1, 2023 July 1, 2024 July 1, 2025 July 1, 2026 July 1, 2027 
Agricultural $273.14 60,000 VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Normal Water Year   
Industrial $865.97 200,000 Treated Water $4.32  $4.92 $5.17  $5.43  $5.70  
*Multi unit usage 3,000 gallons or less/month 
avg/unit 

Agricultural Water $3.48  $3.97 $4.17  $4.38  $4.60  
     

VOLUME RATES   VOLUME RATES ($/thousand gallons applied to all use) - Drought Conditions   
Treated Water (gallons) - Use over Minimum 20% Cutback      

3,001 to 5,000  $1.24 $/hundred gal.  Treated water  $4.96  $5.65 $5.93  $6.23  $6.54  
5,001 to 20,000 $2.47 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.11  $4.69 $4.92  $5.17  $5.43  

> 20,000 $2.21 $/thousand gal. 30% Cutback      
Agricultural   Treated water  $5.41  $6.17 $6.48  $6.80  $7.14  
> 60,000 $1.70 $/thousand gal. Agricultural water $4.55  $5.19 $5.45  $5.72  $6.01  

    40% Cutback      
DROUGHT SURCHARGE:  Treated water  $6.02  $6.86 $7.20  $7.56  $7.94  
Water Supply 
Shortage 

Conservation 
Level 

Usage 
Surcharge 

Agricultural water $5.15  $5.87 $6.16  $6.47  $6.79  
50% Cutback      

Stage 1 20% 11% Treated water  $6.86  $7.82 $8.21  $8.62  $9.05  
Stage 2 40% 21% Agricultural water $5.98  $6.82 $7.16  $7.52  $7.90  
Stage 3 75% 41%       
        

 


	3.29.23 Special Meeting Agenda acb rev
	5a - 23.03.08 Special Meeting Minutes
	5b - 23.03.16 Special Meeting Minutes acb rev
	6a - CPUD Rate Report 3.24.23 FINAL DRAFT
	6b - CPUD Rate Report 3.24.23 REDLINES
	7 - CPUD Prop 218 Notice 2023 Draft 3.24.23

